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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF VERMONT
ALLCO RENEWABLE ENERGY LIMITED
OTTER CREEK SOLAR LLC,
THOMAS MELONE and
PLH VINEYARD SKY LLC
Plaintiffs,
v.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

JOSEPH KULKIN,
JANE DOES 1-3 and
JOHN DOES 1-3.
Defendants.

Case No. 2:20-CV-44

MOTION TO QUASH SUBPOENA,
MOTION FOR PROTECTIVE ORDER,
and
MOTION FOR SANCTIONS
NOW COME Vermonters for a Clean Environment, Inc. (“VCE”) and Annette Smith,
Executive Director of VCE, by and through their attorneys, Valsangiacomo, Detora &
McQuesten, P.C., and hereby respectfully request that this Honorable Court:
1) Quash the Subpoena Duces Tecum dated February 8, 2021, served upon nonparty Annette Smith;
2) Issue a Protective Order to protect non-parties Annette Smith and VCE from
Plaintiff’s abusive discovery; and,
3) Order Sanctions against Plaintiff Thomas Melone (who is also the sole owner
of all other Plaintiffs, and is Plaintiffs’ counsel) to compensate Ms. Smith for her
attorney’s fees, costs, expenses, lost time and inconvenience in responding to this abusive
Subpoena and to punish Mr. Melone for his offensive fishing expedition designed to
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oppress Ms. Smith and harm her financially to thwart her and her organization’s
environmental advocacy and educational mission. Such extraordinary relief is requested
in good faith and fully supported by a substantial factual record, which demonstrates that
the imposition of sanctions may be the only possible option to deter Plaintiff from
continuing his bad-faith, scorched-earth litigation and discovery abuses.

SUBPOENA TO PRODUCE DOCUMENTS
1. Plaintiff Thomas Melone has caused a Subpoena Duces Tecum to be served upon a
non-party, Annette Smith, which commands her to produce:
1. All Communications with Joey Kulkin.
2. All Communications related to the Rutland Projects.
"Communication" means any written or other transmission or
exchange of words, thoughts or ideas to another person or entity,
whether person-to-person, in a group, in a meeting, by telephone,
by letter, by telex, facsimile, electronic mail, texting, or by any
other process or medium, electronic or otherwise.
"Rutland Projects" means the Otter Creek Solar projects in
Rutland, Vermont, which are the subject of Case No. 8797, Case
No. 8798, Docket No. 19-1596, Docket No. 20-0253, Docket No.
19-3031 before the Vermont Public Utility Commission.
See Exhibit 1, Subpoena.
PLAINTIFF THOMAS MELONE and
NON-PARTY ANNETTE SMITH
1. Annette Smith is the Executive Director of Vermonters for a Clean Environment Inc.
(VCE),1 a grassroots, environmental advocacy and educational organization that was

1

https://vce2.org/
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formed in 1999 in response to a $1 billion natural gas power plant and pipeline
project supported by then-Governor Howard Dean, proposed for Rutland (1080 mW
power plant) and Bennington (270 mW power plant) Counties in Vermont, with two
60-mile 24” high pressure pipelines proposed to fuel the power plants.2 Prior to the
formation of VCE, Annette Smith, a small farmer living off grid with solar in
Vermont, wrote a letter to the editor about the project, which was published in the
Rutland Herald on December 15, 1998, titled “Solar is Better than Gas Pipeline.”
After VCE successfully defeated the huge fossil fuel project, the 501(c)3 non-profit
assisted Vermonters in the defeat of out-of-scale quarries, large farms, and
inappropriately sited landfills. VCE has assisted Vermont communities in addressing
toxics issues, air pollution, groundwater contamination and protection, drinking water
disinfection, and the preservation of important natural areas in Vermont.3 VCE has
assisted Vermonters in addressing the environmental impacts of electric transmission
lines, a second natural gas pipeline, wind, solar, and biomass energy proposals. See
Exhibit 3 – VCE 14 ys. Work w/ Vermonters. VCE provides facts and information
so people can make informed decisions. Whenever possible, VCE promotes
collaboration over conflict. VCE also acts as a clearinghouse and assists individuals
and municipalities to participate in regulatory proceedings, including Act 250
(Vermont’s land use law and process), Agricultural permitting for large farms,
Agency of Natural Resources permits, and the Public Utility Commission. VCE
serves in a watchdog role to hold corporations accountable for their actions in
2

https://vce.org/energyindex.html

3

https://vce.org/index-old.html
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Vermont communities, and calls out the activities of bad actors who are operating
outside of Vermont’s rules and law. Due to VCE’s vigilance and assistance to
community members, a wind developer paid ten thousand dollars in fines to the state
of Vermont,4 and a large solar developer (not Melone) paid $57,500 for violations of
its Certificate of Public Good (CPG).5 Thousands of CPGs have been issued by
Vermont’s PUC for solar projects, and an extremely tiny percentage of those have
earned VCE’s attention. VCE has been instrumental in reporting Thomas Melone to
the PUC for violations of the law including violating injunctive orders6 and permit
conditions.7 See Exhibit 4 – VCE Complaint re Otter Creek.
2. Annette Smith was named “2016 Vermonter of the Year” by the Burlington Free
Press on Jan. 2, 2017, stating:
For nearly two decades, Annette Smith has played a key part in making sure there
is public debate over some of the most high-profile energy projects in Vermont.
As executive director of Vermonters for a Clean Environment, the Danby resident
has organized communities, testified before government boards and advised
residents who felt powerless in the face of state bureaucracies and big business…
… Smith recently has found herself making headlines facing off against major
renewable energy projects, generally seen as helping to fight climate change by
reducing reliance on fossil fuels. But Smith says she is no friend of oil and coal,
4

PUC Case No. 17-2571-INV, Investigation pursuant to 30 V.S.A. Sections 30 and 209 into whether Georgia
Mountain Community Wind, LLC, operated its wind electric generation facility in Georgia, Vermont, during icing
conditions on January 3, 2017. Order imposing civil penalty of $10,000, February 1, 2018.
5

PUC Case No. 19-3671-INV, Investigation pursuant to 30 V.S.A. §§ 30 and 209 into potential violations of
Coolidge Solar LLC’s certificate of public good issued in Docket 8685. PUC Order imposing civil penalty of
$57,500, July 24, 2020.
6

PUC Case No. 20-1611-INV, Investigation whether the petitioner initiated site preparation at Apple Hill in
Bennington, Vermont, for electric generation, case opened June 24, 2020. Case pending.
7

PUC Case No. 19-1596-INV, Otter Creek Solar/CPG Violation Investigation in Cases 8797 & 8798. Case opened
May 28, 2019. Case pending.
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or fossil fuels in general, living as she does off the grid on her solar-powered farm
in Rutland County where she grows much of own food.
More than any particular issue in which she has been involved, or a specific
position she has taken, Smith has distinguished herself by helping to raise
awareness about the possible local impact of big projects and give voice to
residents who find themselves up against much bigger forces….
… A common thread among those who have sought out Smith is that she helps
better the odds against a wealthier, more knowledgeable and better funded
adversary.
Burlington Free Press, “Vermonter of the Year: Annette Smith,” Jan. 2, 2017. 8
3. No other environmental group in Vermont performs the functions that VCE does for
Vermont’s public, including assisting in access to regulatory processes, holding
corporations accountable for their actions, and assuring that environmental impacts of
renewable energy projects are mitigated, minimized or avoided.
4. Since July 2015 and as recently as December 2020, Thomas Melone has
inappropriately and inaccurately referred to Annette Smith as an “anti-renewable
energy activist”9 in legal filings in cases to which she is not a party at the PUC, the
Vermont Supreme Court, and U.S. District Court.
5. In a filing to the PUC opposing the intervention by the Town of Bennington in a solar
project, Melone inaccurately stated that Annette Smith is “one of the coal and gas
industry’s best friends in Vermont,”10 while his lawyer son, Michael Melone, Esq.,
8

https://www.burlingtonfreepress.com/story/opinion/2017/01/02/vermonter-year-annette-smith/95656130/

9

PUC - Investigation pursuant to 30 V.S.A. §§ 30 and 209 into whether the petitioner initiated site preparation at
Apple Hill in Bennington, Vermont, for electric generation in violation of 30 V.S.A. § 248(a)(2), Case No. 20-1611INV Prefiled Direct Testimony of Thomas Melone, Dec. 3, 2020, p. 5, “On June 24, 2020, the PUC opened an
investigation on its own motion in response to a complaint filed in Docket 8454 by anti-renewable energy activist
Annette Smith, who has spearheaded the opposition to the two Bennington solar projects.”
10

PUC - Supplemental Memo in opposition to intervention of Town of Bennington - 8.18.pdf, Aug. 18,

Page 5 of 38

who also works under the Allco umbrella, filed an opposition to the Town’s
intervention, stating, “The meeting clearly shows the result when the Annette Smith
circus comes to Town and there is no one in attendance to correct false statements
and misrepresentations.”11
6. In a filing to the U.S. District Court, Melone made the ludicrous allegation that Ms.
Smith is the leader of a coordinated effort that included the former chair of the
Vermont Legislature’s Committee on Natural Resources and Energy and the former
chair of the Public Utility Commission to target Mr. Melone and his solar projects.12
7. In a document submitted to the PUC with a copy of the Complaint in this case, Mr.
Melone erroneously alleged, without substantiation or reasonable belief, that the
Defendant, Joseph Kulkin, is “part of the Vermonters for a Clean Environment’s
opposition group.”13
8. In the instant case, Melone has advanced the erroneous allegation, without

2015. “Obviously, the Select Board was unwittingly drafted into supporting an effort against the project being
spearheaded by anti-renewable energy advocate Annette Smith, one of the coal and gas industry’s best friends in
Vermont.”
11

PUC - Memo in opposition to intervention of Town of Bennington (FINAL with cert of service).pdf, Aug. 17,
2015. “The meeting clearly shows the result when the Annette Smith circus comes to Town and there is no one in
attendance to correct false statements and misrepresentations.” p. 7
12

U.S. District Court - Allco v. Volz, Vepp, PUC, Governor Scott, Complaint for Civil Rights Violations, Unlawful
Taking, Declaratory and Injunctive Relief and Damages, March 9, 2020. “In reality it was directed at the Plaintiffs'
Chelsea and Apple Hill solar projects, as part of a coordinated effort of Klein, other legislators, the neighborhood
opposition group and their leader, Annette Smith. 21. How do we know that Klein's warning to Volz and the PUC
was targeted at Plaintiffs' Chelsea and Apple Hill solar projects and was part of a coordinated effort of Klein, the
neighborhood opposition group and their leader, Annette Smith?” p. 6
13

PUC - March 20, 2020. Otter Creek Solar LLC’s Notice of Subsequent Event, “As described in OCS’s brief on
exceptions to the proposed decision, Joey Kulkin, part of the Vermonters for a Clean Environment’s opposition
group to the Apple Hill and Chelsea solar projects…”
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substantiation or reasonable belief, 14 that Smith is an “all[y]” of defendant Kulkin.15
9. In other legal filings, Melone has alleged that Annette Smith has “sponsored” citizens
who participate in PUC regulatory proceedings,16 and makes vague, unsupported
reference to her “cohorts”,17 alleging she has “spearheaded the opposition to the two
Bennington solar projects.”18
10. During discovery in PUC and Vermont Superior Court cases, Melone routinely
requests Intervenors’ correspondence with Annette Smith, and files public records
requests with state agencies seeking their correspondence with Annette Smith.
11. On June 19, 2020, after Annette Smith reported site clearing for solar projects in
Bennington for which Thomas Melone had not received a CPG, which potentially
violated state statute,19 Melone sent an email to all parties to the case in which he

14

U.S. District Court - Allco v. Kulkin, Complaint for Defamation, Injurious Falsehood and Tortious Interference
with Prospective Contractual Relations, March 19, 2020. “One of Kulkin's allies in his efforts to stop Plaintiffs'
solar energy projects is Annette Smith of an organization that calls itself "Vermonters for a Clean Environment."”
15

Opinion and Order, Allco v. Kulkin, Nov. 2, 2020, p. 5. “Jumping back in time, on January 30, 2019, Annette
Smith, an “all[y]” of Kulkin, filed a complaint with the PUC, alleging that Plaintiffs “were violating the CPGs [for
the OC1 and OC2 Projects] by accessing the Solar Site from Cold River Road for site[-]clearing.””
16

PUC - Petitioner's Reply Brief (FINAL with Cert of Service).pdf, Aug. 12, 2015. “Harris and her sponsor, an
organization that calls itself “Vermonters for a Clean Environment” (“VCE”), continue to advocate for the status
quo... Harris and her sponsor would rather fiddle while Rome burns.” p. 2 “Ms. Harris is the lone wolf (with the
support of her anti-renewable energy sponsor VCE) that continues to object...” p. 8
17

PUC - Motion to strike pre-filed testimony of Richard Carroll (FINAL with cert....pdf, Aug. 4, 2015. “Having
failed in her bid to have the Board pay for real expert testimony to address Ms. Harris’ NIMBY concerns, she now
attempts to drape an area resident and fellow cohort of Annette Smith in expert garb.” p. 1
18

PUC - Supplemental Memo in opposition to intervention of Town of Bennington - 8.18.pdf, Aug. 18, 2015
“Obviously, the Select Board was unwittingly drafted into supporting an effort against the project being
spearheaded by anti-renewable energy advocate Annette Smith, one of the coal and gas industry’s best friends in
Vermont.”
19

To the parties in PUC Case Nos. 8454 and 17-5024-PET:
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accused Ms. Smith of “ignoring the disproportionate impact that people of color
suffer from the burning of fossil fuels, and her and her cohorts activities exacerbating
those conditions by trying to stop renewable energy projects.” Melone specifically
referenced emissions from a coal power plant called Mystic Generating Station in
Massachusetts, essentially accusing Ms. Smith of being responsible for poisoning
people of color, stating “But whatever joy Annette Smith and her cohorts get from
defeating renewable energy projects should be tempered with the knowledge that
their actions support the continued death and destruction wrought by fossil fuels, and
perpetuate generational health issues for families…”20

Dear Parties - Below is a public comment the Public Utility Commission received today from Annette Smith of
Vermonters for a Clean Environment. The Commissioners would appreciate any comments in response to VCE's
comment as soon as possible.
Thank you.
Sincerely,
Judith C. Whitney
Clerk of the Commission
Vermont Public Utility Commission
112 State Street
Montpelier, VT 05620-2701
802-828-2358
puc.clerk@vermont.gov
From: Annette Smith <vce@vermontel.net>
Sent: Friday, June 19, 2020 1:08 PM
To: PUC - Clerk <PUC.Clerk@vermont.gov>
Subject: Apple Hill Solar forest clearing
Dear PUC Clerk,
Please let the Commission know that forest clearing for the Apple Hill Solar (and Chelsea Solar) sites has begun in
the last week or so, apparently including driving through the area set aside for RTE species on the Apple Hill Solar
site.
Annette Smith, VCE
20

PUC - June 19, 2020
From: Thomas Melone <thomas.melone@gmail.com>
Subject: Re: PUC Case Nos. 8454 - Apple Hill Solar Project; and 17-5024-PET- Chelsea Solar Willow Road Project
Date: June 19, 2020 at 7:07:02 PM EDT
To: PUC - Clerk <PUC.Clerk@vermont.gov>
Cc: Michael Melone <mjmelone@allcous.com>, "Porter, James" <James.Porter@vermont.gov>, "Aceves, Sarah"
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<Sarah.Aceves@vermont.gov>, "Einhorn, Donald" <Donald.Einhorn@vermont.gov>, Brooke Dingledine
<lbrooke@vdmlaw.com>, "Hayden, Kimberly, Esq." <khayden@pfclaw.com>, Merrill Bent
<Merrill@greenmtlaw.com>, Lora Block <lblock@sover.net>, "maru@mtanthonycc.com"
<maru@mtanthonycc.com>, "Stone, Alison" <Alison.Stone@vermont.gov>, Rob Woolmington
<rew@wittenetal.com>, Annette Smith <vce@vermontel.net>
Good evening Ms. Whitney,
I hope you are well on this warm summer evening of Juneteenth.
Vermont is certainly the envy of the Nation as it has fared so well during the current health crisis. My state of
residence, on the other hand, the State of Florida, appears poised to be at the other end of the spectrum. The
leadership that Governor Scott has shown by wearing a mask in public sets a standard that others should follow.
It certainly speaks volumes that Annette Smith and sundry neighbors of our property express such concern on
Juneteenth over a flower (the white arrow-leaf aster) that can be ordered from nurseries all over the United States,
while ignoring the disproportionate impact that people of color suffer from the burning of fossil fuels, and her and
her cohorts activities exacerbating those conditions by trying to stop renewable energy projects.
The current pandemic has shined a spotlight on the ignored human health toll of the fossil fuel generation that
Vermont chooses to consume from out-of-state generators, rather than building the necessary solar energy facilities
within its borders. A recent study by the T.H. Chan School of Public Health at Harvard University concludes: “A
small increase in long-term exposure to PM2.5 leads to a large increase in the COVID-19 death
rate.” https://www.medrxiv.org/content/10.1101/2020.04.05.20054502v2. The energy from fossil fuels that
Vermont chooses to consume rather than building the necessary solar energy facilities within its borders also causes
a raft of other health issues that span generations, which disproportionately affect people of color. The fossil fueled
Mystic Generating Station is one such power plant that supplies electricity to the ISO-New England region from
which Vermont gets its electricity. This week’s Boston Globe reported on the generational suffering that families
like Sean Collie’s have endured and still endure from Vermonters and New Englanders flipping on the light
switch. See, https://www.bostonglobe.com/2020/06/14/metro/effort-keep-states-largest-power-plant-open-fuelsconcern-about-climate-public-health/ (“The towering smokestacks of the state’s largest power plant have loomed for
decades over the Boston area, spewing pollutants that produce smog, warm the planet, and exacerbate asthma and
other respiratory illnesses, such as the coronavirus. … Sean Collie, who has lived a few blocks from the Mystic
plant for 23 years …suffers from asthma, as does his 12-year-old daughter. Collie, whose wife gave birth last year to
another daughter, worries for his growing family. The air in the neighborhood can be so difficult to breathe that they
sometimes have to shut all their windows. The foul-smelling fumes often leave him wheezing, and prone to long
spells of coughing.”)
We may never know how many lives have been lost, and are yet to be lost, from the increases in the COVID-19
death rate from fossil fuel generation consumed by Vermont, including what would have been displaced if the Apple
Hill solar project and other projects opposed by Annette Smith were timely approved when they should have
been. But whatever joy Annette Smith and her cohorts get from defeating renewable energy projects should be
tempered with the knowledge that their actions support the continued death and destruction wrought by fossil fuels,
and perpetuate the generational health issues for families such as Sean Collie’s. I am reminded of this quote: “Out,
damned spot! …will these hands ne’er be clean” ~William Shakespeare, MacBeth, Act 5, Sc. 1.
It is my understanding that at approximately 12:45p on June 16, 2020, the Apple Hill site was visited by VT
Environmental Enforcement Officer Patrick Lowkes at the request of Don Einhorn. While ANR can certainly make
its own comments, Officer Lowkes’ inspection confirmed that NO RTE area was being disturbed and that the RTE
area was cordoned off to prevent intrusion. I assume that if ANR believed there was any issue, it would have filed
something already.
Please feel free to contact me with any further questions.
Respectfully,
Thomas Melone
Chief Executive Officer
Allco Renewable Energy Limited
1740 Broadway, 15th Floor
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12. Annette Smith lives off-grid in Danby, Vermont. Her electricity source is solar
panels, batteries, and a back-up gasoline generator. She does not consume any
electricity from the New England grid.
13. Thomas Melone owns a 6917 square foot residence in Edgartown on Martha’s
Vineyard in Massachusetts that Zillow estimates is worth $12,223,779.21 Martha’s
Vineyard is served by the New England electricity grid, which is in part fueled by the
Mystic coal power plant that is causing harm to the health of minority communities.
Melone’s residence consumes electricity generated by Mystic Generating Station.
14. Thomas Melone owns a 15,762 square foot residence in Bergen County, New Jersey
valued for property tax purposes at $5,483,000.22 The most recent data available from
EIA shows New Jersey generates the majority of its electricity from fossil fuels,
including coal.23
15. In this instant case Melone states he is a resident of Florida and the sole owner of
Allco Renewable Energy Limited and PLH.24 Melone told the PUC in 2020 that
during the pandemic he is living in his 11,500 square foot home in Delray Beach,
Florida, which Zillow estimates is worth $16,431,178.25

The most recent data

New York, NY 10019
(212) 681-1120
(801) 858-8818 (fax)
21

https://www.zillow.com/homedetails/15-Gaines-Way-Edgartown-MA-02539/56027660_zpid/

22

https://www.stateinfoservices.com/property/0228/403/21/#Assessment-Tax

23

https://www.eia.gov/state/?sid=NJ

24

Complaint for defamation, injurious falsehood and tortious interference with prospective contractual relations,
filed 3/19/20, United States District Court, District of Vermont, at 7. p. 3
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available from EIA shows Florida generates the majority of its electricity from fossil
fuels, including coal.26
16. Thomas Melone unsuccessfully sued the Massachusetts Department of Public
Utilities to stop the Cape Wind project proposed to be located offshore Martha’s
Vineyard on the basis that the renewable energy project would affect his viewscapes,
diminish his property value, and oil and other contaminants could find their way to
his property in Edgartown, Mass. on Martha’s Vineyard.27
17. Litigation appears to be Melone’s primary occupation, not solar development. Using
a virtual office28 to claim residency for some of his businesses as Chittenden County,
Vermont, Melone filed suit against the Town of Bennington in Federal Court, which
the town moved to Vermont Superior Court where the case was dismissed for lack of
jurisdiction, and then was refiled by Melone in Vermont Superior Court’s
Environmental Division.29 Named parties were the Town of Bennington Select Board
and Planning Commission, the Bennington County Regional Planning Commission,
some individual members of the Bennington Select Board, and some members of the

25

https://www.zillow.com/homedetails/601-S-Ocean-Blvd-Delray-Beach-FL-33483/46775583_zpid/

26

https://www.eia.gov/state/?sid=FL

27

http://masscases.com/cases/sjc/462/462mass1007.html

28

https://www.davincivirtual.com/loc/us/vermont/shelburne-virtual-offices/facility-1180

29

Vermont Superior Court Environmental Division, PLH, LLC v. Town of Bennington, et al. filed January 24,
2018 “Because the present matter is outside the scope of this Court’s jurisdiction, we cannot provide declaratory
relief requested by PLH LLC. See 12 V.S.A. § 4711 (providing for Superior Courts with the power to provide
declaratory judgement “within their jurisdictions.”). Nor is it within our authority to provide the preliminary
injunction requested. Therefore, the Town’s motion to dismiss is GRANTED. PLH LLC’s complaint must therefore
be DISMISSED for lack of subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to V.R.C.P. 12(h)(3).”
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Town of Bennington’s ad hoc energy committee.30

Melone’s scorched-earth

litigation strategy, designed to bully, bulldoze, or destroy anyone who stands in his
way, is Thomas Melone’s standard operating procedure. And, it works! It worked in
bringing the Town of Bennington to its knees after expending $200,000 worth of
litigation costs, attorneys’ fees, and administrative expense, which ultimately caused
the Town to enter a settlement - the only way to recover that crippling out-of-pocket
amount ($200k) - by withdrawing any opposition or promising not to oppose any of
Melone’s five proposed Bennington solar projects.31
18. Thomas Melone currently has separate litigation pending in Vermont Superior Court
Chittenden Division against the Vermont Agency of Transportation,32 the Vermont
Agency of Natural Resources,33 and the Vermont Public Utility Commission.34
19. Melone is litigating in Vermont Superior Court Chittenden Division against
Bennington citizens who did not support two of his solar projects, including PUC
intervenor Apple Hill Homeowners Association, PUC intervenor Libby Harris, the
30

https://vce.org/Complaint%20PLH%20et%20al%20v%20Bennington%20et%20al%20final.pdf
“Plaintiff PLH is an Indiana limited liability company with its office located at 145 Pine Haven Shores, Suite
1000A, Shelburne, VT 05482.
31

https://www.benningtonbanner.com/archives/town-solar-developer-sign-off-on-settlement/article_8ef9d7ae-fec35653-807d-0a43c7b74a75.html
32

Vermont Superior Court, Chittenden Division, Otter Creek Solar LLC and PLH LLC v. State of Vermont and
Vermont Agency of Transportation, Filed April 9, 2018, Rulings on Motions for Summary Judgment, March 4,
2019. Granted and denied. Case Pending.
33

Vermont Superior Court Chittenden Unit, Otter Creek Solar LLC v. Vermont Agency of Natural Resources, filed
February 20, 2020. Case pending.
Vermont Superior Court Chittenden Unit. Otter Creek Solar LLC v. Vermont Public Utility Commission, filed
January 31, 2020. Case pending.
34

Vermont Superior Court Chittenden Unit. Apple Hill Solar LLC et al v. Vermont Public Utility Commission, filed
on January 21, 2020. Claims against Governor, Access to Records, Case Disposed June 24, 2020
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Estate of Earl Senecal who denied granting an easement to Melone, and the original
1960’s developers of the Apple Hill residential development, Paul and Nancy
Bohne.35
20. In addition to this suit in U.S. District Court, Melone filed suit in U.S. District Court
against Governor Phil Scott, former Vermont PUC chair Jim Volz, each of the current
three PUC Commissioners individually, the PUC, and VEPPI, the administrator of the
state’s Standard Offer program.36 Melone filed yet another suit against the PUC that
is also pending in U.S. District Court.37
21. An internet search of Melone’s business entities, Allco, PLH, etc. bring up numerous
lawsuits filed in other states, including but not limited to Massachusetts,38
Connecticut,39 and, New York,40 California41 where Melone intervened in the PG&E

35

Vermont Superior Court. PLH LLC v. Libby Harris a/k/a Libby Garrison, the Apple Hill Homeowners
Association Inc., Estate of Earl Senecal, Paul W. Bohne III and Nancy S. Bohne, April 10, 2019. Case pending.
36

United States District Court of Vermont. Allco Renewable Energy Limited, Otter Creek Solar LLC, Chelsea
Solar LLC, Apple Hill Solar LLC and PLH LLC v. James Volz, VEPP Inc., Anthony Roisman, Sarah Hofmann,
Margaret Cheney, Vermont Public Utility Commission, Phil Scott in his official capacity of governor of the State of
Vermont, and the State of Vermont, March 9, 2020. Demand: $75,000,000.00. Case pending.
37

United States District Court for the District of Vermont. Allco Finance Limited, Otter Creek Solar, LLC, and
PHL Vineyard Sky, LLC v. Anthony Roisman, Sarah Hofmann and Margaret Cheney in their official capacities as
commissioners of the Vermont Public Utility Commission, July 21, 2020. Case pending
38

United States Court of Appeals, First Circuit. Allco Renewable Energy Limited v. Massachusetts Electric
Company, agent of National Grid; Angela M. O’Connor, individually and in her official capacity as Chairperson of
the DPU; Jolette A. Westbrook, individually and in her official capacity as Commissioner of the DPU; Robert
Hayden, individually and in his official capacity as Commissioner of the DpU; Judith Judson, individually and in her
official capacity as Commissioner of the MDER, decision November 13, 2017. Allco fails to show that the district
court erred in dismissing its claims against National Grid, because it lacks a private right against National Grid. So
too does Allco fail to show that the district court abused its discretion in limiting the relief it granted against the
state defendants. Accordingly, we affirm.
United States District Court of Massachusetts. PLH LLC v. Town of Ware, January 23, 2019. Resolved
39

United States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit. Allco Finance Limited v. Robert J. Klee in his official
capacity as Commissioner of the Connecticut Department of Energy and Environmental Protection, Office of
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bankruptcy case claiming he is entitled to more than $600 million for un-built solar
projects for which he alleges PG&E should have contracted.
22. Thomas Melone has appealed Green Mountain Power’s projects to the Vermont
Supreme Court, which dismissed his challenges, preventing him from turning a
limited permitting proceeding before the PUC into a broad challenge to the methods
of PURPA compliance in Vermont, and affirming his lack of standing in another
case.42

Consumer Council, Fusion Solar LLC, Number Nine Wind Farm LLC, Greenskies Reneable Energy, LLC.,
November 6, 2015. Disposition: Appeal from a district court judgment (Arterton, J.), which dismissed the plaintiff's
complaint. We hold that: (1) the plaintiff cannot bring claims under and 1988 to vindicate any rights conferred by
the Public Utility Regulatory Policies Act ("PURPA") because PURPA's private right of action forecloses such a
remedy; (2) the plaintiff failed to exhaust administrative remedies, a prerequisite to bringing an equitable action
seeking to vindicate any rights conferred by PURPA; and (3) the plaintiff lacks standing to bring a preemption
action seeking solely to void the contracts awarded to the intervenors. Accordingly, we AFFIRM the district court's
judgment on alternative grounds.
United States District Court for the District of Connecticut. Allco Fin. Ltd. V. Etsy, July 2, 2014. Greenskies's
motion for permissive intervention is granted for the limited purpose of objecting to Allco's discovery request and
seeking to obtain a modification of the operative protective order.
40

United States District Court Southern District of New York. Allco American Capital Limited, LLC vs. Thomas
M. Rainwater, November 2009. Filed by Thomas M. Melone, CEO and President AllcoUS against CEO of Sun
Edison LLC. “This action involves claims by the plaintiff, a limited liability company whose
sole member is a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Delaware with its principal place of business
in the State of New York (as alleged in its State Court complaint), against the defendant, a resident and citizen of the
State of Maryland, seeking damages under theories of "tortious interference with plaintiff's rights" and "breach of
fiduciary duty to plaintiff." Outcome unknown.
41

United States District Court Northern District of California San Francisco Division. Winding Creek Solar LLC,
Foothill Solar LLC, Hollister Solar LLC, Vintner Solar LLC, Bear Creek Solar LLV, and Allco Renewable Energy
Limited v. Pacific Gas & Electric Company. November 20, 2019. “Plaintiffs sought damages in excess of $600
million, as well as injunctive relief in the form of court-ordered contracts with the Utility….The Adversary
Proceeding is dismissed without leave to amend on the basis that Plaintiffs have, by commencing the Adversary
Proceeding, employed an improper procedure (specifically, an adversary proceeding under Part VII of the
Bankruptcy Rules) for asserting their prepetition claims against the Utility.” Dismissed.
42

Vermont Supreme Court. GMPSolar-Richmond, LLC v. Allco Renewable Energy Limited, Nov. 22, 2017
“Allco sought to make the limited CPG proceeding a platform for a broad challenge to the methods of PURPA
compliance in Vermont. We conclude that it was within the Board’s discretion to require that such a challenge be
made in a proceeding suited to resolve the specific issues raised and in which all affected parties could fully
participate. We find no abuse of discretion.”
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STANDARD OFFER CONTRACTS and
THE BENNINGTON SOLAR PROJECTS
23. Melone currently has at least four appeals pending before the Vermont Supreme
Court. Two cases are appeals of two of his Bennington Solar projects. Two cases are
appeals of the PUC’s Standard Offer program. 43
24. Standard Offer contracts are Melone’s vehicle of choice for developing solar projects
in Vermont. Vermont’s Standard Offer program was established “to encourage the
development of renewable energy resources in Vermont as well as the purchase of
renewable power by the state’s electric distribution utilities.”44

The process is

administered by VEPP, Inc.,45 which annually issues a Request for Proposals (“RFP”)
on which developers bid. Projects are capped at 2.2 mW. Contracts are awarded to
the lowest qualified bidders. Applicants who bid for contracts are expected to have
site control such that they “have a realistic chance of being commissioned,”46 if a

Vermont Supreme Court. Allco Renewable Energy Limited v. Green Mountain Power Corp. Approval to Invest in
Hydroelectric Generation Facilities Located Outside Vermont, May 2018.“Because Allco was properly denied party
status, it cannot appeal the grant of the CPG. We affirm the denial of Allco’s petition to intervene. We dismiss
Allco’s appeal of the grant of the certificate of public good.”
43

Allco Renewable Energy Limited and PLH LLC v. Public Service Board, August 25, 2017. In re Programmatic
Changes to Standard-Offer Program & Investigation into Establishment of Standard-Offer Prices
https://www.vermontjudiciary.org/sites/default/files/documents/op16-399.pdf “In this case, not only did Allco not
raise the issue at the proper time, but also Allco failed to provide an adequate factual basis for the Board to
determine that the solar projects qualified under the “sufficient benefits” test.”
Allco Renewable Energy Limited & PLH LLC v. Public Utility Commission, May 2020. In re Investigation to
Review the Avoided Costs that Serve as Prices for the Standard-Offer Program in 2019
https://www.vermontjudiciary.org/sites/default/files/documents/op19-393.pdf

44

https://vermontstandardoffer.com/standard-offer/

45

http://vermontstandardoffer.com/

46

https://www.vermontjudiciary.org/sites/default/files/documents/op19-393.pdf. “explaining that site control
requirement was adopted “to reduce speculative bidding and ensure that projects have a realistic chance of being
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contract is awarded and the PUC subsequently issues a CPG. Contracts contain a
site-control requirement, but, unlike the RFP, the contract defines “site control” as
“proof of dominion over real property to the extent necessary to construct the
project.”47
25. In April 2013, Melone d/b/a Ecos Energy LLC submitted two bids in response to
VEPP, Inc.’s RFP issued in the Standard Offer program for Bennington Solar LLC,
and for Apple Hill Solar LLC, both projects to be located on the same 27 acre parcel
in Bennington, Vermont. Both projects promised to be in commercial operation by
May 31, 2015.
26. The PUC approved a contract for Bennington Solar, LLC (which was renamed
Chelsea Solar, LLC) to be located on Apple Hill in Bennington, but denied the
contiguous Apple Hill Solar LLC on the same parcel of land, finding that the two
projects together were really a single plant: one 4.0 mW project that exceeded the 2.2
mW cap of the Standard Offer program.
27. In the Spring of 2013, neighbors who live at the end of the cul-de-sac of the road
known as Russet Drive which is located in the Apple Hill Residential Subdivision
called the Apple Hill Homeowners Association’s President, Bill Knight, to report that
heavy earth-moving equipment and trucks were at the end of their street. Mr. Knight
went to the scene, identified himself, and asked the operator of the big earth mover
what he was doing. He said he was going to make a road through the end of Russet
Drive to a solar project. Mr. Knight told him he was in the wrong place. The operator
commissioned”, p. 11
47

Id. p. 14.
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made a phone call and then left. See Exhibit 6, Affidavit of Bill Knight. This is the
quintessential example of Mr. Melone’s modus operadi: to bulldoze - literally in this
instance – anyone who gets in his way of whatever he wants.
28. On May 21, 2013, Melone moved the PUC to reconsider its decision to deny the
Apple Hill Solar standard offer contract. Attached to its Motion for Reconsideration
were two diagrams of the proposed projects showing that each project would be
served by a separate access road and a separate point of interconnection. The Apple
Hill Solar, LLC project was depicted as being accessed via Willow Road from the
south. However, the Bennington/Chelsea Solar LLC project was depicted as being
accessed via a road from the north that does not exist. Melone or his agent, had
altered the aerial photo and drew in a make-believe extension to Russett Drive’s culde-sac over the lands of Earl Senecal, a resident of the Apple Hill Residential
Subdivision. The road depicted does not exist and is the same road that Melone’s
contractor tried to bulldoze earlier that Spring without permission or any rights of any
kind.
29. On June 20, 2013, Bennington Solar LLC executed a Standard Offer contract for a
2.0 mW solar facility to be located in Bennington.
30. In July 2013, Melone or his agents approached Apple Hill resident Earl Senecal of
Russet Drive seeking an easement through his property to access the Bennington
Solar site from the north. Senecal declined to enter into an easement with the solar
developer. See Exhibit 7, Affidavit of Earl Senecal.
31. On October 18, 2013, Melone, appearing as Ecos Energy LLC, appealed the PUC’s
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denial of Apple Hill Solar, LLC’s standard offer contract to the Vermont Supreme
Court. Included in Ecos’s Printed Case were the same two diagrams presented to the
PUC in the Motion for Reconsideration, showing two separate points of
interconnection and two separate access roads, one from the north (“Russet Dr.”)
leading to Bennington Solar and one from the south (“Willow Road”) leading to
Apple Hill Solar. Melone’s diagram still showed the make-believe extension of
Russet Drive through Earl Senecal’s property, which Senecal had declined to grant an
easement for, just three months prior. See Exhibit 5, PUC Order re Russett Drive &
Single Plant issue. The Ecos Exhibits, which depict Russett Drive (fake road from
the north) and Willow Road (from the south) are attached to the PUC Order at pages
7 and 8.
32. Based on the false representations by Melone that the two projects would be served
by separate roads with separate points of interconnection, on March 28, 2014 the
Vermont Supreme Court reversed the PUC. 48
33. On May 12, 2014, Apple Hill Solar LLC executed a Standard Offer contract for a 2.0
mW solar facility to be located in Bennington, Vermont.
34. On June 19, 2014, Melone d/b/a Ecos Energy LLC filed a petition for “Chelsea Solar
LLC”.49
35. Site plans for Chelsea Solar LLC showed the solar site would be accessed by a road
different from the diagram presented to the PUC and the Vermont Supreme Court in
48

Allco Renewable Energy Limited and Ecos Energy LLC v. Public Service Board, March 28, 2014
https://www.vermontjudiciary.org/sites/default/files/documents/In%20re%20Programmatic%20Changes.pdf
49

Melone renamed Bennington Solar LLC and called it Chelsea Solar LLC in the petition filed with the PUC.
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2013. Instead of using Russet Drive as depicted in the diagram provided to the
Vermont Supreme Court, Melone proposed using a private right-of-way that is an
extension of Apple Hill Road, through the Apple Hill residential development, all of
whose properties contain deed restrictions and covenants prohibiting commercial use
of Apple Hill properties. Chelsea Solar LLC now proposed to interconnect to the grid
via the same one-mile power line extension that Apple Hill Solar LLC presented to
the PUC and Vermont Supreme Court, and not the point of interconnection near
Russet Drive that was part of the basis for the Vermont Supreme Court’s reversal of
the PUC’s denial of Apple Hill Solar LLC.
36. In June 2017, Melone, through his representative Brad Wilson, submitted revised
plans for the Chelsea Solar LLC and Apple Hill Solar LLC projects.50
37. On Feb. 14, 2019, the PUC asked parties to the Chelsea Solar LLC case to comment
on the diagrams from the 2013 Vermont Supreme Court Printed Case showing the use
of Russet Drive and the separate points of interconnection. Parties to the PUC case
had never seen the 2013 plan to use an non-existing extension of Russet Drive to
access one of the solar project sites and interconnect to the grid in the residential area
of Apple Hill until the PUC brought it into the Chelsea Solar permitting case in 2019,
asking parties to comment on whether the two projects together constituted a single
plant. See Exhibit 5, PUC Order re Russett Drive and Single Plant.
38. Melone’s failure to obtain legal rights to access one of the Bennington solar projects
has resulted in years of litigation. Each of the two cases that began in 2013 are now
50

https://www.benningtonbanner.com/archives/new-solar-plan-200k-settlement-reviewed/article_c823af21-5286553d-919d-843dc20ceaea.html
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before the Vermont Supreme Court for the third time, with oral argument scheduled
for March 17, 2021 in Apple Hill Solar LLC while the Court’s decision in Chelsea
Solar LLC is still pending.51
RUTLAND SOLAR PROJECTS
OTTER CREEK SOLAR I, II, and III
39. On April 29, 2016, Melone d/b/a PLH LLC submitted a bid for a 2.2 mW Rutland
Town project in response to the 2016 Standard Offer RFP, and was awarded a
contract signed by Otter Creek Solar LLC on February 3, 2018.
40. On August 23, 2016, Melone d/b/a Otter Creek Solar LLC applied to the PUC to
develop two contiguous solar projects, 2.2 mW and 4.9 mW, on the same 55.9 acre
forested parcel in Rutland Town, Vermont. Both projects went through an unusual
combined process at the PUC with different, consecutive case numbers, 8797 and
8798.

A joint public hearing was held, a joint site visit was held, and a joint

evidentiary hearing was held. Both projects were approved by the PUC and received
CPGs on Feb. 27, 2018.
41. On May 23, 2017, Melone d/b/a Otter Creek Solar LLC submitted a bid for 2.2 mW
of the 4.9 mW Rutland Town project in response to the 2017 Standard Offer RFP,
and Otter Creek Solar LLC was awarded a contract that was revised March 22, 2018.
42. On Jan. 30, 2019, Melone obtained a third Standard Offer contract for the other
portion of the 4.9 mW project.
43. No other solar developer participating in the Vermont Standard Offer program has
51

2014 Reversal in both cases, Chelsea Solar Denial 2016, Chelsea Solar Denial 2019, Apple Hill Solar remand
2018, Apple Hill Solar Denial, 2020. https://www.vermontjudiciary.org/sites/default/files/documents/op18358_1.pdf
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proposed siting more than one 2.2 mW solar project on the same parcel. The Rutland
Town projects are Melone’s third such attempt to game Vermont’s program – the
others, Chelsea Solar and Apple Hill Solar, and Battle Creek Solar,52 Warner Solar
and Stark Solar53 are in Bennington.
44. Melone’s cases at the PUC become overly complicated to the point of being
convoluted due to his practice of getting more than one Standard Offer contract for
contiguous projects to be located on one parcel.
45. The Rutland Town projects at issue in this proceeding were proposed to be located on
a 55.9 acre forested parcel bordered by the Cold River Road to the east and Windcrest
Road to the west. Cold River Road is used as a bypass by many drivers to avoid the
traffic lights on Route 7 to the west, and therefore has a high volume of traffic. It is
hilly with challenging lines of sight for property owners attempting to enter the road.
Windcrest Road is a relatively short dead end road directly off Route 7 with no traffic
safety issues.
46. All testimony submitted by Melone to the PUC for the Rutland Town projects stated
that both projects would be cleared and constructed via Windcrest Road. Testimony
by Melone’s representative, Brad Wilson, specifically stated that neither project
would be cleared or constructed via Cold River Road.
47. Annette Smith and VCE staff attended the PUC’s site visit, where Brad Wilson stood
on Windcrest Road and provided details of the project to town officials, neighbors,
the PUC Commissioners and other interested parties.
52

Battle Creek Solar is constructed and in operation.

53

Warner Solar and Stark Solar are currently briefing the single plant issue.
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48. At no time, either in testimony filed with the PUC or as represented by Brad Wilson
at the site visit, did Melone or his agents disclose that an easement from the adjoining
property owner on Windcrest Road was necessary to access the sites to clear and
construct the projects.
49. At no time, either in testimony filed with the PUC or as represented by Brad Wilson
at the site visit, did Melone or his agents disclose that the necessary easement had not
been secured. At the time Melone submitted bids for the projects in response to the
RFPs, Melone did not have site control to clear and construct the projects as
represented to the PUC in testimony.
50. Standard offer contracts and CPGs for the Rutland Town projects were obtained in
2018. At the time that Melone signed the Standard Offer contracts and at the time
CPGs were issued, he did not have site control due to the failure to obtain the
undisclosed and necessary easement.
51. On January 30, 2019, VCE filed a complaint with the PUC notifying them that the
Rutland Town projects were being cleared using Cold River Road, not Windcrest
Road, potentially in violation of the CPGs. VCE’s complaint included information
with maps showing the need for the easement, which had not been disclosed to the
PUC prior to the complaint filed by VCE. As stated in the complaint, VCE became
aware of the issue during discussions with Rutland Town officials. VCE’s complaint
included some other issues where the project was being developed differently than
presented in testimony to the PUC, such as burning and selling the wood rather than
chipping it on site to use for erosion control as represented by Brad Wilson in
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testimony to the PUC.
52. In addition to the original two Rutland Town cases, 8797 and 8978, the PUC has
opened investigations and Melone has petitioned the PUC in the Rutland Town
projects resulting in numerous cases54 necessary to address the alleged violations and

54

8797 -- Petition of Otter Creek Solar LLC, pursuant to 30 V.S.A. § 248, for a certificate of public good
authorizing the installation and operation of a 4.99 MW solar electric generation facility located on Windcrest Road
in Rutland, Vermont. Filed August 23, 2016. PUC CPG issued February 27, 2018
8798 -- Petition of Otter Creek Solar LLC, pursuant to 30 V.S.A. § 248, for a certificate of public good
authorizing the installation and operation of a 2.2 MW solar electric generation facility located on Cold River Road
in Rutland, Vermont. Filed August 23, 2016. PUC CPG issued February 27, 2018.
19-1596-INV – Investigation pursuant to 30 V.S.A. §§ 30 and 209 into alleged violation of Otter Creek Solar,
LLC's certificates of public good issued in Cases 8797 and 8798. Case opened May 28, 2019.
“We agree with the hearing officer that this result is compelled by the CPGs’ separate identification of “site
preparation” and “construction” in several conditions throughout the CPGs and the lack of the words “site
preparation” in Condition 1. We also agree that OCS was the unintended beneficiary of a drafting oversight — an
oversight that will be corrected going forward when the Commission issues CPGs under Section 248. We also agree
with the concerns expressed by the hearing officer over OCS’s failure to correct the sworn testimony in the record of
Cases 8797 and 8798 regarding the access point to be used for site clearing.” PUC Final Order December 4, 2019.
Appealed, jointly with 19-3031-PET, by Melone to Vermont Supreme Court, April 14, 2020. Remanded September
1, 2020.

19-3031-PET -- Petition of Otter Creek Solar LLC requesting non-substantial change determinations or in the
alternative amendments to the certificates of public good issued to the Otter Creek 1 and Otter Creek 2 Solar
Projects in Rutland, Vermont in Case Nos. 8797 and 8798. Filed July 17, 2019.
“The Vermont Public Utility Commission partially adopts the proposal for decision, denies a motion to dismiss filed
by Otter Creek Solar LLC, and opens an investigation to determine the appropriate amount of a civil penalty to
impose on Otter Creek Solar for its violation of Commission Rule 5.408.” “The change of access point from
Windcrest Road to Cold River Road for performing site clearing was a change in the “approved proposal” that had
the potential for significant impact under Section 248 and was therefore subject to the requirements of Rule 5.408.”
“OCS’s selective enforcement argument also fails.” “OCS continues to mischaracterize the Commission’s
precedent on the difference between the concepts of material deviation, found in the CPGs, and substantial change,
found in Rule 5.408.” “OCS also mischaracterizes the reasoning in the proposal for decision when it criticizes the
description of Rule 5.408 as requiring a forward-looking analysis.” “OCS’s argument is simply not accurate.”
“We agree with the hearing officer that changing the point of access for site clearing from a dead-end road that
serves a limited number of properties to a Class 2 town highway had the potential for such impacts and that OCS’s
failure to obtain authorization for the change violated Rule 5.408.” “OCS misstates the facts in making this
argument.” “We also reject OCS’s argument that Rule 5.408 is a procedural rule, the violation of which is not
subject to the penalty provisions of 30 V.S.A. § 30.” “OCS’s argument is without merit.” “OCS’s final argument
fares no better.” “For the reasons discussed above, we find that OCS violated Commission Rule 5.408 when it used
the temporary access drive off Cold River Road for site clearing without first obtaining authorization from the
Commission.” PUC Order March 19, 2020.
Appealed jointly with 12-1596-INV by Melone to Vermont Supreme Court, April 14, 2020. Remanded September
1, 2020.
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20-0233-PET. Petition of Otter Creek Solar LLC for relief from standard-offer contract commissioning milestone
for the Otter Creek 2 project. Filed January 29, 2020.
“As explained in the Commission’s order of April 16, 2020, OCS failed to meet the statutory requirements that are a
prerequisite to the Commission exercising its discretion to extend the commissioning deadline. As a result, the
Commission was required to deny the petition, thereby subjecting the contract to the statutory termination
mechanism.” “For the reasons discussed above and in the Commission’s April 16, 2020, Order, OCS’s motion to
reconsider is denied.” PUC Order re Motion to Reconsider. Dec. 18, 2020
20-0253-PET. Petition of Otter Creek Solar LLC for a certificate of public good, pursuant to 30 V.S.A. § 248(j),
authorizing the installation and operation of the “Otter Creek 3 Solar Project,” a 2.2 MW solar electric generation
facility to be located in Rutland, Vermont. Filed January 30, 2020.
“In today’s order, the Vermont Public Utility Commission (“Commission”) denies a second motion filed by Otter
Creek Solar LLC (“OCS”) to vacate or reconsider the Commission’s order dated February 20, 2020, dismissing the
petition filed by OCS in this case.” “For the reasons discussed above and in the Commission’s February 20, 2020,
and May 6, 2020, Orders, OCS’s second motion to reconsider is denied.” PUC Order December 18, 2020.
20-0266-PET. Petition of Otter Creek Solar LLC requesting a non-substantial change determination in connection
with the reduction in size of the Otter Creek 1 solar project in Rutland, Vermont. Filed January 30, 2020.
“In today’s order, the Vermont Public Utility Commission (“Commission”) denies as moot a second motion filed by
Otter Creek Solar LLC (“OCS”) to vacate or reconsider the Commission’s order dated February 19, 2020,
dismissing the petition filed by OCS in this case.” “The Commission’s December 3, 2020, approval of OCS’s
petition in Case No. 20-3025- PET effectively renders moot OCS’s pending motion in this case. The motion is
therefore denied. Additionally, because the Commission dismissed the petition filed in this case in an order issued
on February 19, 2020, and denied OCS’s first motion for reconsideration by order dated May 6, 2020, there is
nothing further to be done in this case. Case No. 20-0266-PET is therefore closed.” PUC Order December 3, 2020.
20-0440-PET. Petition of Otter Creek Solar LLC for relief from standard-offer contract certificate of public good
filing milestone for the Otter Creek 3 project. Filed February 18, 2020.
“In its June 11 motion, OCS proposes that the standard-offer contract that applies to the OC-3 facility be
transferred to its previously approved 2.2 MW Otter Creek 2 facility (“OC-2”) and that the commissioning deadline
in that contract also be extended. 3 During the August 21 status conference, OCS represented that it no longer
intends to pursue the approval and construction of the OC-3 facility.” PUC Order August 24, 2020.
20-0625-PET. Petition of Otter Creek Solar LLC for relief from both the standard-offer contract commissioning
milestone, and waiver of the certificate of public good milestone for the Otter Creek 1 project. Filed March 9, 2020.
“In granting this relief we stress that our decision is an exercise of Commission discretion and is solely based on the
unique circumstances of this case as well as events that occurred after the hearing officer issued the proposal for
decision. Even though we are granting relief from the petition-filing milestone deadline in the contract, we agree
with the hearing officer’s enumerated proposed findings and legal reasoning that support the recommended denial
of the petition. As a result, this Commission decision should not be read as precedent for other projects seeking
extensions of standard-offer deadlines should similar circumstances arise in the future.” PUC Order December 3,
2020.
20-2572-PET. Petition of Otter Creek Solar LLC for the amendment of Attachment A and the extension of the
commissioning deadline of the January 30, 2019, standard-offer contract applicable to the Otter Creek 3 solar
electric generation facility in Rutland, Vermont. Filed September 9, 2020.
“In today’s order, the Vermont Public Utility Commission (“Commission”) grants in part the petition filed by Otter
Creek Solar LLC (“OCS”) seeking: (1) an amendment to Attachment A to the January 30, 2019, standard-offer
contract that applied to OCS’s proposed Otter Creek 3 (“OC-3”) solar facility (the “Contract”) so that the
Contract applies to OCS’s already approved Otter Creek 2 (“OC-2”) solar facility; and (2) an extension of the
commissioning milestone deadline in the Contract until August 26, 2021.” PUC Order December 18, 2020.
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over-complexity resulting from the failure to clear the project according to testimony
and plans, and so many Standard Offer contracts on the same parcel. The
investigation resulting from the site clearing off Cold River Road instead of
Windcrest Road is now in the penalty determination phase.
53. Melone challenged the PUC’s award of Standard Offer contracts in 2019 and 2020
with appeals to the Vermont Supreme Court. In one case, a primary issue he
litigated was the alleged lack of site control by the winner of the bidding process,
NextEra, Melone’s primary competitor. In oral argument before the Vermont
Supreme Court in 2020, he told the Vermont Supreme Court Justices:
10:05: Thomas Melone: But they [NextEra] didn’t have the easement at the
time of the bid and that’s really the test, whether they had the land rights at the
time of the bid.
12:40: Thomas Melone: The easiest thing is what we do, is it’s clear that we
have site control.55

BAD MOTIVE
54. Thomas Melone’s attempt to involve Annette Smith in the case at bar is totally
improper, but appears to have been his end game all along.

Melone has been

obsessed with Smith for years, gunning for her because she runs a watchdog group

20-3025-PET – Amended CPG issued 12/03/20 -- Petition of Otter Creek Solar LLC for an amendment to the
certificate of public good issued in Case No. 8797 authorizing the installation and operation of the “Otter Creek 1
Solar Project” in Rutland, Vermont. Filed October 9, 2020.
“OCS’s petition amends the CPG authorizing a reduction in the alternating current (“AC”) capacity of the
previously approved OC-1 project from 4.9 MW to 2.2 MW and states that the reduced-capacity project will be
known as the “MacKinnon” project.” PUC Order December 3, 2020.
55
In re Investigation to Review the Avoided Costs that Serve as Prices for the Standard-Offer Program in 2019
(Allco Renewable Energy Limited & PLH LLC, Appellants), 2020 VT 103 No. 2019-393.
See Video of Oral Argument at: https://youtu.be/FiT7KV58bqs.
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that keeps track of bad actors and has shone a light on his misrepresentations and
violations.

Melone now seeks to turn his scorched earth tactics to abuse and

ultimately silence Ms. Smith and VCE, because she stands in his way.
55. Melone has sued Mr. Kulkin for an absurd amount of money, and is now attempting
to involve Smith in a case where he, alone, is responsible for his own delays – years
and years of delays due to his obsessive litigiousness. Even the PUC has identified
Melone’s culpability, but rather than take responsibility, Melone blames others and
weaponizes the litigation process to get what he wants. See Exhibit 8, PUC Order re
Melone’s Delays of Otter Creek.
56. In Melone’s fantasy world, Smith is the leader of a conspiracy in concert with the
former chair of the PUC and former chair of the Vermont House Committee on
Natural Resources and Energy, a scenario so implausible as to be laughable.
57. In Melone’s real world, in two of his Bennington solar cases, he presented false and
misleading information to the Vermont Supreme Court to achieve a reversal of the
PUC’s denial of one of his projects where he did not have site control to construct a
project according to the contract.
58. In the Rutland Town cases at issue in the instant suit, Melone obtained Standard Offer
Contracts and CPGs for the Otter Creek projects for which he, himself, did not have
site control. Melone should never have bid into the RFP or received the contracts or
the CPGs. And then, incredibly, Melone held up another company - NextEra’s receipt of a Standard Offer Contract by appealing its award of the Contract to the
Vermont Supreme Court, arguing that NextEra was not entitled to a Standard Offer
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Contract because it did not have proper site control, and falsely claiming that Melone
acquires site control at the time of the bid saying, it is “what we do.” The instant case
itself proves Melone’s statement to the Supreme Court is false. Obviously, securing
site control before he bid on the Standard Offer contract for Otter Creek Solar, was
required according to his own arguments against NextEra before the Supreme Court.
Yet in the instant case, Melone is suing Mr. Kulkin for 25 million dollars for doing
something that he claims delayed Melone getting an easement that he should have
obtained years before. Melone was never entitled to a contract for the project site
because he did not have site control and procured the bid through fraudulent
representations.
59. The PUC’s Decision attached as Exhibit 8, comprehensively deals with all of the
same arguments that Mr. Melone is making in the case at bar. The PUC has carefully
analyzed every argument Melone advances to to blame others for his own dilatory
conduct that created issues, but that were still within Melone’s control.
60. The PUC sums up the Otter Creek Solar delays as Melone’s responsibility as follows:
In this case, OCS could have avoided any delays caused by its difficulties
in obtaining access from Windcrest Road by timely seeking Commission
approval to use Cold River Road for construction access. The alleged
financing difficulties that OCS claims to have experienced were the
product of its own actions—actions taken at least in part without regard to
the Commission’s regulatory oversight responsibilities. Furthermore, the
Commission’s investigations into the unauthorized use of Cold River
Road to access the project site for clearing purposes were the direct result
of OCS’s own actions and could have been avoided by developing the
project according to the previously approved plans.”
Exhibit 8 at 29.
Exhibit 8.

See also Exhibit 9 for a non-highlighted version of
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61. For the Court’s further information, attached is a copy of a recent filing by the
Agency of Natural Resources in a Melone case at the PUC that demonstrates
the Plaintiff’s ongoing abuse of litigation tactics:
“The Developer has persistently and willfully refused to abide by the
Commission’s requirements in these proceedings. The Developer has
abused the process and demonstrated disregard for other parties’ rights to
an orderly proceeding. The Developer’s actions have imposed unnecessary
and inappropriate burdens on the parties and their counsel in dealing with
and responding to the Developer’s unauthorized, unacceptable, and
persistent conduct.”
Exhibit 10 at 12.
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LEGAL ARGUMENT
I.

Legal Standard for Quashing a Subpoena and Protection of Non-Parties
“Rule 45 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure governs the issuance, service, and

enforcement of subpoenas, and the procedures for objecting to them. The Rule provides a level
of protection for persons subject to subpoena, allowing such persons to object on particular
grounds, including ‘undue burden or expense.’” Standard Fire Ins. Co. v. Donnelly, No. 5:08CV-258, 2010 WL 11610603, at *2–5 (D. Vt. Apr. 2, 2010) (citing FED. R. CIV. P. 45(c)(1),
(c)(2)(B)).
Rule 45(c), entitled “Protecting a Person Subject to a Subpoena,” states, in relevant part:
A person commanded to produce documents or tangible things ...
may serve on the party or attorney designated in the subpoena a
written objection .... The objection must be served before the
earlier of the time specified for compliance or 14 days after the
subpoena is served.”
FED. R. CIV. P. 45(c)(2)(B).

“Generally, unless an ‘adequate excuse’ is provided, a person

served with a valid subpoena must obey it, or be held in contempt. FED. R. CIV. P. 45(e)).
However, any order compelling a non-party to comply with a subpoena ‘must protect’ that nonparty ‘from significant expense resulting from compliance.’” Standard Fire Ins. Co. at *2-5
(citing FED. R. CIV. P. 45(c)(2)(B)(ii); See Concord Boat Corp. v. Brunswick Corp., 169 F.R.D.
44, 49 (S.D.N.Y. 1996))(emphasis supplied). Moreover, “the court must not enforce a subpoena
that ‘requires disclosure of privileged or otherwise protected matter’ or presents an ‘undue
burden.’” Id. (citing Orbit One Communications v. Numerex, 255 F.R.D. 98, 105 (S.D.N.Y.
2008) (quoting FED. R. CIV. P. 45(c)(3))).

Page 29 of 38

“The burden of persuasion on a motion to quash a subpoena is borne by the movant.” Id.
(citing Jones v. Hirschfeld, 219 F.R.D. 71, 74–75 (S.D.N.Y. 2003); Concord Boat Corp., 169
F.R.D. at 48)). “Determinations of issues of ‘undue burden’ are committed to the discretion of
the trial court.” Id. (citing Hirschfeld, 219 F.R.D. at 74.) As this Honorable Court explained in
Standard Fire Ins. Co. v. Donnelly, in making such determinations, a court must limit a party’s
discovery if it determines that:
“(i) the discovery sought is unreasonably cumulative or
duplicative, or is obtainable from some other source that is more
convenient, less burdensome, or less expensive; (ii) the party
seeking discovery has had ample opportunity by discovery in the
action to obtain the information sought; or (iii) the burden or
expense of the proposed discovery outweighs its likely benefit,
taking into account the needs of the case, the amount in
controversy, the parties’ resources, the importance of the issues at
stake in the litigation, and the importance of the proposed
discovery in resolving the issues.”
Id. (quoting FED. R. CIV. P. 26(b)(2)). This Court further articulated the factors that the court is
required to weigh in determining the issues of burden and reasonableness:
“An evaluation of undue burden requires the court to weigh the
burden to the subpoenaed party against the value of the
information to the serving party. Whether a subpoena imposes an
“undue burden” depends upon such factors as relevance, the need
of the party for the documents, the breadth of the document
request, the time period covered by it, the particularity with which
the documents are described and the burden imposed. However,
courts also give special weight to the burden on non-parties of
producing documents to parties involved in litigation. The
determination of issues of burden and reasonableness is committed
to the sound discretion of the trial court.” Travelers Indem. Co. v.
Metropolitan Life Ins. Co., 288 F.R.D. 111, 113 (D. Conn. 2005).
Id. (bold emphasis supplied).
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Moreover, a critical holding in the Standard Fire Ins. Co. v. Donnelly decision, provides
the following:
Clearly, implicit in Rule 45 is a requirement that the subpoena
must seek relevant information, meaning information that is
reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible
evidence. See Stock v. Integrated Health Polan, Inc., 241 F.R.D.
618, 621 (S.D. Ill. 2007) (“A subpoena will survive a motion
to quash when it designates topics that are reasonably calculated to
lead to admissible evidence.”); Syposs v. United States, 181 F.R.D.
224, 226 (W.D.N.Y. 1998) (“The reach of a subpoena issued
pursuant to [Rule] 45 is subject to the general relevancy
standard applicable to discovery under [Rule] 26(b)(1).”).
Id. (emphasis supplied). The relevancy requirement was further discussed a few years later in
Clift v. City of Burlington, Vermont, in which the Court stated:
Rule 45 requires the Court to modify or quash a subpoena in
several circumstances, including whenever the subpoena subjects
the moving party to an “undue burden.” Fed. R. Civ. P.
45(c)(3)(A). Although Rule 45 does not explicitly refer to the
relevancy requirements for discovery, many courts have
quashed subpoenas that are not “reasonably calculated to lead to
the discovery of admissible evidence.” Fed. R. Civ. P.
26(b)(1); see, e.g., Miscellaneous Docket Matter No. 1 v.
Miscellaneous Docket Matter No. 2, 197 F.3d 922, 927 (8th Cir.
1999) (upholding the quashing of a subpoena because it sought
irrelevant material); Warnke v. CVS Corp., 265 F.R.D. 64, 66
(E.D.N.Y. 2010) (“A subpoena issued to a non-party pursuant to
Rule 45 is subject to Rule 26(b)(1)’s overriding relevance
requirement.”) (internal quotation omitted). Of course,
a subpoena may be unduly burdensome even when the
information or documents are relevant; in such cases, the
question is whether the “burden of compliance with
[the subpoena] would exceed the benefit of production of the
material sought by it.” Nw. Mem’l Hosp. v. Ashcroft, 362 F.3d
923, 927 (7th Cir. 2004) (quashing a subpoena for the medical
records of patients who received late term abortion procedures
because although the material might have been relevant, it was of
little probative value.).
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Clift v. City of Burlington, Vermont, No. 2:12-CV-214, 2013 WL 12347197, at *1–2 (D. Vt.
Aug. 26, 2013)(emphasis supplied). The Standard Fire Ins. Co. v. Donnelly and Clift v. City of
Burlington cases were decided in 2010 and 2013 respectively. The 2015 Amendments to the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure revised Rule 26(b)(1) by eliminating the “reasonably
calculated” language and redefining the scope of discovery as limited by relevance and
proportionality:
any nonprivileged matter that is relevant to any party’s claim or
defense and proportionate to the needs of the case, considering the
importance of the issues at stake in the action, the amount in
controversy, the parties’ relative access to relevant information, the
parties’ resources, the importance of the discovery in resolving the
issues, and whether the burden or expense of the proposed
discovery outweighs its likely benefit. Information within this
scope of discovery need not be admissible in evidence to be
discoverable.
F.R.C.P. Rule 26(b)(1). While the wording of the scope of discovery has been amended to a
stricter relevance and proportionality standard, the reasoning of the Court’s 2010 Standard Fire
Ins. Co. v. Donnelly decision and the 2013 Clift v. City of Burlington case remain equally
applicable. In fact, the Court has since confirmed that the amended “Rule 26(c)(1) authorizes the
Court to modify or quash a subpoena ‘to protect a party or person from annoyance,
embarrassment, oppression, or undue burden or expense.’” Ernst v. Kauffman, No. 5:14-CV-59,
2016 WL 11261290, at *3 (D. Vt. June 23, 2016).56 Therefore, as a threshold matter, the

56 “Under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 45, a court may quash a deposition subpoena if the testimony it seeks is
irrelevant. See,e.g., Clift v. City of Burlington, No. 12-CV-214,
2013 WL 12347197, at *1 (D. Vt. Aug. 26, 2013) (“Although Rule 45 does not explicitly refer to the relevancy
requirements for discovery, many courts have quashed subpoenas that are not reasonably calculated to lead
to the discovery of admissible evidence.” (internal quotation marks omitted)); GMA Accessories, Inc. v. Electric
Wonderland, Inc., No. 07 Civ. 3219, 2012 WL 1933558, at *5 (S.D.N.Y. May 22, 2012) (same).”
Denniston v. Abiomed, Inc., No. 19-MC-6010-FPG, 2019 WL 6827487, at *1 (W.D.N.Y. Dec. 13, 2019).
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materials requested via the subject subpoena must be relevant as defined by Rule 26(b)(1). It is
only after the requesting party clears the relevance threshold that the Court is obligated to engage
in weighing of factors to determine whether there is an undue burden.
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APPLICATION OF THE LAW TO THE
SUBJECT SUBPOENA
The Subpoena that is the subject of this Motion to Quash which was served on non-party
Annette Smith commands production of:
1.

All Communications with Joey Kulkin.

2.

All Communications related to the Rutland Projects.

"Communication" means any written or other transmission or exchange of words,
thoughts or ideas to another person or entity, whether person-to-person, in a
group, in a meeting, by telephone, by letter, by telex, facsimile, electronic mail,
texting, or by any other process or medium, electronic or otherwise.
"Rutland Projects" means the Otter Creek Solar projects in Rutland, Vermont,
which are the subject of Case No. 8797, Case No. 8798, Docket No. 19-1596,
Docket No. 20-0253, Docket No. 19-3031 before the Vermont Public Utility
Commission.
See Exhibit 1.
The Subpoena’s first request: “All Communications with Joey Kulkin,” contains no
time limit or topic and is, on its face, vague, overbroad, burdensome and violative of Ms. Smith’s
reasonable expectation of privacy and VCE’s statutory rights under the Vermont Trade Secret’s
Act, and imposes an undue burden and expense on Ms. Smith and her organization. Such
discovery has not been shown to seek documents that are remotely relevant to the claims or
defenses in this case, and the documents are certainly available from the Defendant, another
source that is more convenient, less burdensome, and less expensive than imposing an undue
burden on a non-party to this action.

Since the communications requested belong to the

Defendant himself, it is beyond credulity that Attorney Melone, a very experienced litigator, has
not requested document production from Mr. Kulkin. Nor has Mr. Melone made a showing that
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the requested documents were not available from Mr. Kulkin.

And, given the expected

discovery process that has no doubt taken place, the subpoena is objectionable as unreasonably
cumulative or duplicative. Lastly, the burden and expense of Mr. Melone’s fishing expedition on
a non-party with no showing of need or relevance, does not even require a weighing of burden
versus benefit. This is a frivolous weaponized case brought for an absurd amount of money,
which claim is wholly unsupported by any factual basis whatsoever since Melone has currently
received his CPGs and Standard Offer Contracts for the Otter Creek projects that are at the heart
of his alleged claim against Mr. Kulkin. Thus, the amount in controversy is a fraud. Melone will
make his $25 million on the Otter Creek projects at issue in this case, and the discovery proposed
to be subpoenaed from Ms. Smith, has no role in resolving any of the issues in the litigation nor
is it relevant in any event.
The Subpoena’s second request: “All Communications related to the Rutland Projects”
takes Melone’s abuse to a new level, presumably requiring the production of any email or other
correspondence, at any time, to or from anyone in the entire universe pertaining to the “Rutland
Projects” which is defined as 5 different Dockets at the PUC. The request is nothing short of the
text book example of a “fishing expedition.” But, it actually represents much more than that. As
detailed in the factual history supra, Mr. Melone has demonstrated a pattern of ill will towards
Ms. Smith, engaging in false narratives and disparaging ad hominin attacks, all because she has
uncovered his repeated flagrant and belligerent disregard of the law, which have caused him
delay, expense and potential fines imposed by the PUC for his violations. Ms. Smith has blown
the whistle on Melone several times now, so he seeks to destroy her and her organization through
his abusive litigation tactics and malicious discovery abuses, designed solely to destroy and
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silence any opposition to his unlawful and abusive business practices. Ms. Smith implores this
Honorable Court to Quash the Subpoena served upon her and issue a Protective Order preventing
Mr. Melone from harassing, abusing and oppressing her with service of further Subpoenas.
In summary, the Court should Quash the Subpoena served upon Ms. Smith for the
following reasons:
•

Melone has failed to demonstrate that his discovery of all communications between
Ms. Smith and Mr. Kulkin are relevant to the claims or defenses in this case.

•

Melone has failed to demonstrate that his discovery of all of Ms Smith’s emails
regarding the “Rutland Projects” are relevant to the claims or defenses in the case.

•

Melone has failed to demonstrate that the Kulkin emails were not able to be obtained
through the normal discovery process from the Defendant.

•

The requests are vague, overbroad, burdensome, oppressive and violate Ms. Smith’s
rights to privacy and her organization’s protections under statutory and common law.

•

The requests are for an improper purpose and made in bad faith designed solely to
destroy and silence any opposition.

MOTION FOR SANCTIONS
Under Rule 45 a court must impose a sanction where a subpoena imposes undue burden
or expense. Fed.R.Civ.P. 45(d)(1). “The rule leaves district courts discretion regarding the form
of such sanctions.” Simuro v. Shedd, No. 2:13-CV-30, 2014 WL 5776149, at *5 (D. Vt. Nov. 6,
2014)(citing Legal Voice v. Stormans Inc., 738 F.3d 1178, 1185 (9th Cir.2013)). “Nevertheless,
the Second Circuit has reversed sanctions for attorney's fees or lost earnings absent a clear
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factual showing of bad faith and “clear evidence that the challenged actions are entirely without
color and [are taken] for reasons of harassment or delay or for other improper
purposes” Weinberger v. Kendrick, 698 F.2d 61, 80 (2d Cir.1982) (internal quotation marks and
citation

omitted).
The case at bar provides clear evidence that Melone’s serving of the Subpoena on Ms.

Smith is entirely without color and propounded for the purpose of annoyance, oppression, and to
silence any opposition to his solar energy projects. Such actions demonstrate Mr. Melone’s bad
faith intent to destroy Annette Smith and Vermonter’s for a Clean Environment, so no one will
be left to report Melone’s violations of law.
Ms. Smith’s request for the extraordinary relief of sanctions is requested in good faith
and fully supported by a substantial factual record, which demonstrates that the imposition of
sanctions may be the only possible option to deter Plaintiff from continuing his bad-faith,
scorched-earth litigation and discovery abuses.
Annette Smith has no role in Mr. Melone’s conspiracy fantasy and he should not be
permitted to abuse strangers to this litigation.
WHEREFORE, Annette Smith and VCE respectfully request that the Court issue and
Order:
1) to Quash the Subpoena Duces Tecum served upon non-party Annette Smith;
2) Issue a Protective Order to protect non-parties Annette Smith and VCE from
Plaintiff’s abusive discovery; and,
3) Order Sanctions against Plaintiff Thomas Melone (who is also the sole owner
of all other Plaintiffs, and is Plaintiffs’ counsel) to compensate Ms. Smith for her
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attorney’s fees, costs, expenses, lost time and inconvenience in responding to this abusive
Subpoena and to punish Mr. Melone for his offensive fishing expedition designed to
oppress Ms. Smith and harm her financially in order to thwart her and her organization’s
environmental advocacy and educational mission.
DATED at Town of Randolph, County of Orange, State of Vermont this 12th day of
March, 2021.
Vermonters for a Clean Environment &
Annette Smith

Dingledine______________

cc:

_/s/ L. Brooke

By: L. Brooke Dingledine, Esq.
Valsangiacomo, Detora & McQuesten, P.C.
Attorneys for Annette Smith
172 N. Main Street
P.O. Box 625
Barre, Vermont 05641
Tel: (802) 476-4181, ext. 311
Lbrooke@vdmlaw.com

Thomas Melone, Esq.
Joey Kulkin
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EXHIBIT 1 - Subpoena Annette Smith
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EXHIBIT 1 - Subpoena Annette Smith

39. Rutland City Water

Plan for change in water disinfectant led to new water
board members choosing Granular Activated Carbon

22. Grandpa’s Knob Wind

3. Barre Landfill

45. UniFirst Site Contamination
TCE contamination from dry cleaning operation

Huge wind turbines on ecologically sensitive mountain,
constructed and creating noise and other problems

47. Vermont Pure Water Extraction and Bottling
Water bottling plant expanded operations without permit
amendments, impacts to stream flows, trucking

48. Wells Mountain VELCO Tower
Telecommunications tower next to home/artistic retreat

29. Northfield Ridge Wind
Wind project proposed for ridgeline with huge aquifer and
thousands of neighbors

30. NPS 100/Vergennes Wind Turbine
Wind turbine creating noise, shadow flicker, glare and
health issues for neighbor

West Rutland to South Burlington

Developer planning to move post office out of village center

36. Pristine Mountain Springs
Seeking enforcement of permit conditions for state’s largest
exporter of bulk drinking water

19. Formaldehyde Use at Large Farms

Formaldehyde use and disposal by large dairy farms

Statewide electromagnetic radiation health impacts

Wireless Smart Meters

VELCO NW Reliability Project

Bennington to Rutland

Southern Vermont Natural Gas Pipeline

Burlington to Middlebury & International Paper in NY

PLUS:
Vermont Gas Systems Pipeline

Large biomass electricity generating plant proposed at the
bottom of a bowl with residences and mountains above

50. Winstanley Biomass

Iberdrola proposing huge wind project near hundreds of
residences on large undeveloped tract of land

35. Pittsford Post Office

Polluting outdoor wood boiler harming neighbors’ health

34. Outdoor Wood Boiler

Three mile railroad proposed through wetlands in residential and agricultural area

33. Omya Rail Spur

Air, water and noise pollution from poorly regulated
mineral processing plant

32. Omya Mineral Processing Plant

Prevented development of open-pit mine in scenic,
environmentally sensitive area

31. Omya Danby Mine

49. Windham and Grafton Wind

Two expansion proposals defeated by collaborative efforts
with neighbors and other groups

28. Mettawee School Spraying
Herbicide spraying on farmland next to school children

46. Vermont Egg Farm

Expansion of transfer station, with air and water pollution

27. Lowell Wind

44. TAM Transfer Station

Another ridgeline proposed as part of Ira Wind project,
near Tinmouth Channel and residences

43. Susie Peak Wind

Huge wind project harming health of neighbors

42. Sheffield Wind

Huge wind project proposed for wild and environmentally
sensitive area

Attempts to address noise and air pollution from snowmobiles running close to homes

26. Lamoille Valley Rail Trail

Lamb feedlot and slaughterhouse proposed in residential
area, purchased by community group to become successful
Vermont Farmstead Cheese

25. South Woodstock Slaughterhouse

Huge wind project proposed for undeveloped 5000 acre
tract surrounded by hundreds of homes

24. Ira Wind - Vermont Community Wind Farm

Railyard proposed for same area as huge power plant

Confined Animal Feedlot Operation proposed for beautiful
valley with residential areas nearby

41. Seneca Mountain Wind

40. Rutland Railyard Relocation

23. Hinsdale Large Farm

Citizens lead effort to say no to the use of chloramine in
their drinking water

38. Rice Woods

Gravel pit proposed next to mobile home park in residential area with high traffic accident rate

18. Fenn Gravel Pit

Omya waste proposed for use at copper mine site

17. Elizabeth Mine

Two large wind turbines proposed near hundreds of homes,
including in Canada

16. Derby Line Wind

Ridgeline wind project on National Forest land next to
George D. Aiken Wilderness

15. Deerfield Wind

Excessive pesticide spraying, expansion of packing facility
to large trucking operation

14. Crescent Orchards

Removal of telecommunications tower in residential area

13. Communications Antenna in Montpelier

Gravel pit blasts without permits

12. Chaves Quarry

Addition of ammonia to drinking water creating health
issues and increasing pollution to Lake Champlain

11. Champlain Water District

Cell tower proposed next to homes with children

10. Cell Tower

Quarry expansion next to mobile home park with MTBEcontaminated aquifer

9. Carrara Quarry

Grandfathered gravel pit proposed for expansion, permitting issues addressed through stakeholder process

8. Carrara Gravel Pit

Childhood leukemia led to identification of historical contamination and nearby health risks

7. Cancer Cluster

Concrete company proposed construction and demolition
landfill in depleted gravel pit in headwaters of Lake Paran

6. C&D Landfill

Project proposed near residential neighborhood

5. Goddard Biomass Heating Plant

Court ruling leads to access issues

4. Berlin Pond Access

Proposed solid waste landfill above residential area, schools
Proposal for big wind turbines on ridgeline with hundreds
of people living nearby and high environmental values

Protecting extraordinary bobcat habitat and ecologically
sensitive area from housing developing

21. Grand Isle Consolidated Water District

Big power plant proposed in area with air quality problems

2. 1080MW Natural Gas Power Plant

Propane distribution next to day care center proposed

Four large wind turbines next to residences and farm, in
area with high recreational acitivity

Power plant proposed next to high population area

37. Propane Distribution Facility

20. Georgia Mountain Wind

1. 270 MW Natural Gas Power Plant
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January 30, 2019
PUBLIC COMMENT ALLEGING VIOLATION OF CPG
Re: Case No. 8798, Otter Creek Solar 2
2.2 MW Standard-Offer Project
Vermonters for a Clean Environment, Inc. submits this public comment to bring possible
violations of the CPG to the attention of the Public Utility Commission.
Otter Creek Solar 2 recently began site clearing. VCE has reviewed the relevant prefiled
testimony, exhibits, evidentiary hearing transcript, Final Order and Certificate of Public
Good. Specifically, we refer to the following documents in the record:
1. Prefiled Direct Testimony of Ian Jewkes, Aug. 22, 2016
2. Prefiled Direct Testimony of Brad Wilson, Aug. 22, 2016
3. Supplemental Prefiled Direct Testimony of Brad Wilson, Aug. 18, 2017
4. Second Supplemental Prefiled Direct Testimony of Brad Wilson, Sept. 11, 2017
5. Third Supplemental Prefiled Direct Testimony of Brad Wilson, Sept. 27, 2017
6. Exhibit OC2-BW-13
7. Exhibit OC1-BW-14
8. Joint Evidentiary Hearing Transcript, Oct. 31, 2017
9. Final Order, Feb. 27, 2018
10. Certificate of Public Good, Feb. 27, 2018
For the purposes of this letter, the above documents will be referred to as “VCE-1, VCE2, etc.”
This public comment is supplemented with photographic documentation taken on Jan.
29, 2019 of the current status of the site and the surrounding area. All photographs were
provided to VCE without monetary compensation. VCE fulfills its mission by holding
corporations accountable for their actions and assisting Vermonters with having a voice
in environmental issues that affect their communities. This public comment is consistent
with our mission and is filed on behalf of our members.
We have identified a number of activities that are inconsistent with the description of
construction activities in testimony, site plans and the CPG.
1. VCE filed public comments. The PUC asked petitioner to respond. One comment
was the suggestion that petitioner provide firewood to the community. Petitioner’s
response is as follows: VCE-4, p. 3
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VCE Complaint to PUC alleging CPG Violations
Case No. 8798, Otter Creek Solar 2
January 30, 2019
p. 2 of 10

	
  

Q4. PUC Request No. 4: “VCE’s comments raise additional questions
about donating the cut trees to the community for firewood, the need
for a 300-foot-wide wildlife corridor, and the potential existence of a
hydrologic connection between the two wetlands mapped on the site.
Please provide a response to these comments.”
A4. Dori Barton will respond to wildlife corridor and hydrologic connection
questions in her supplemental testimony. I will address the question regarding the
donation of firewood. The cleared trees are proposed for use as mulched
ground cover for the purpose of soil stabilization and erosion control.
There are no plans to make cleared trees available to the community
for use as firewood. As detailed in my previously-submitted testimony, we
worked diligently with site neighbors and the Town of Rutland on the Projects’
planning and design. Neither of these groups requested that cleared trees be made
available to the community for firewood. Also, the site plan designs do not
currently accommodate the logistics of a firewood operation; there
are no provisions for cutting/splitting, transportation, distribution,
and providing public access to a private site that will be an active
construction site and then an electricity generation facility. emphasis added
Sign erected off Cold River Road at the entrance to the project site:

“FIREWOOD $50 BUCKS A CORD
802-316-78591
WE WILL LOAD YOUR 1 TON”
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VCE Complaint to PUC alleging CPG Violations
Case No. 8798, Otter Creek Solar 2
January 30, 2019
p. 3 of 10

	
  
Contrary to the CPG-holder’s testimony, firewood is being offered for sale rather than
used as mulch for stabilization as described in sworn testimony.

The firewood is advertised for sale to passers-by coming from both the north and south.
CPG-holder said in sworn testimony that site plans do not accommodate the logistics of a
firewood operation and providing public access to a private site. However CPG-holder is
advertising they will load your truck for you. This photo shows the site is easily
accommodating a firewood operation.
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Case No. 8798, Otter Creek Solar 2
January 30, 2019
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2. CPG-holder has installed a road off Cold River Road which is consistent with the
CPG and is part of the plans. However, according to testimony, it was not to be used for
clearing or construction. Brad Wilson testified: "Vehicles and equipment associated with
the clearing work will access the site via Windcrest Road; they will not use
Cold River Road." VCE-2, p. 7, lines 15-16. The record contains three supplemental
prefiled testimonies by Brad Wilson, none of which amend the description of the clearing
work access road in the original testimony. Brad Wilson also testified, “Vehicles and
equipment associated with the construction work will access the site via Windcrest Road;
they will not use Cold River Road.” VCE-2, p. 8, lines 17-18.
The evidentiary hearing transcript contains no discussion about the change in access for
clearing and construction. Because Cold River Road is a very heavily traveled road, the
use of Cold River Road instead of Windcrest Road for clearing and construction
introduces a public safety issue that has not been evaluated.

3. CPG-holder is burning the wood rather than grinding it on site as described in
testimony. Burning was not mentioned in any testimony, on site plans, or at the
evidentiary hearing. Massive amounts of smoke are reported to be coming off the site,
creating air pollution in an area known to experience air quality issues in winter with
inversions that often blanket Rutland in low clouds during the winter. The project is
located in the midst of residential, commercial and industrial operations that may be
negatively affected by the air pollution coming off the site. Testimony submitted by
petitioner did not evaluate the air pollution from burning that is now part of this project.
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On Jan. 29, a person in the vicinity of the project site said that on Friday, Jan. 25, the
Rutland Town Fire Department was called out because 70 foot flames were shooting up
in the air. Petitioner should be required to reimburse the Rutland Town Fire
Department for work being done outside of the conditions of the CPG.
Ian Jewkes testified about site clearing work on behalf of petitioner:
Q7. Please describe the site clearing work required for the Project.
A7. The entire Project area is currently wooded. Approximately 11 acres of
existing vegetation will be cleared prior to Project construction. There are existing
wetlands and 50-foot wetland buffers both southwest and west of the Project
location on the property. All of the areas that will be cleared are outside of any
wetland or wetland buffer. Clearing will consist of cutting
all trees, brush, and shrubs within the designated areas. The portions
of the cleared area that would be utilized for the Project is illustrated on Sheet 103
of Exhibit OC2-IJ-2. Materials accumulated from clearing will be
ground on site and used for erosion prevention and sediment
control on site and/or removed from the site to an appropriate local
disposal/recycling facility. Grubbing of the site is not planned; all
stumps will be cut flush with existing grade and left in place. If
stumps interfere with Project installation or site grading in specific
location, they will be ground in place or removed and disposed of in
an approved stump dump off-site. No on-site stump dump is proposed.
Emphasis added, VCE-1, p. 4, line 6
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The Final Order [VCE-9] says:

VCE Complaint to PUC alleging CPG Violations
Case No. 8798, Otter Creek Solar 2
January 30, 2019
p. 6 of 10

Air Pollution and Greenhouse Gas Impacts
[30 V.S.A. § 248(b)(5); 10 V.S.A. § 6086(a)(1)]
35. The Projects will not result in undue air pollution, sound, or greenhouse gas
emissions. This finding is supported by findings 36 through 41, below.
36. The Projects have no components that have the potential for releasing
harmful air pollutants. Ian Jewkes, Petitioner (“Jewkes”) pf. at 8.
The project is releasing air pollutants that were not disclosed or evaluated during the
PUC process.
4. The most recent site plan with clearing boundaries [VCE-6] was filed on Sept. 27,
2017 and is part of a filing that showed two versions, one if Otter Creek 1 (the larger one
to the left which now has a standard-offer contract for a 2.2 MW project) is already
constructed and the following view if Otter Creek 1 is not already constructed, which it is
not. The site plan in the record shows that if Otter Creek 1 is not already constructed, a
road (shown in green) originating off Windcrest Road on the image below will be used for
clearing and construction.

The next image is an excerpt from VCE-7 and shows the Windcrest Road access, with
the green road coming off Windcrest Road to serve Otter Creek 2 during clearing and
construction.
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VCE Complaint to PUC alleging CPG Violations
Case No. 8798, Otter Creek Solar 2
January 30, 2019
p. 7 of 10

Rutland Town tax mapping shows the project parcel has no frontage on Windcrest Road.

This image from Google Earth shows Windcrest Road, the Railroad tracks, and the
project parcel. VCE learned from Rutland Town officials that the Town was surprised to
learn that the Town road (Windcrest Road) ends at the RR tracks. Windcrest Road is
privately owned east of the RR tracks and as it continues south.
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VCE Complaint to PUC alleging CPG Violations
Case No. 8798, Otter Creek Solar 2
January 30, 2019
p. 8 of 10

The view from ground level on Jan. 29, 2019

Petitioner did not disclose at the site visit with PUC Commissioners Cheney and
Hofmann and interested members of the public that access to the project site required
securing an easement from the adjoining landowner to the south. Local people report
that the adjoining property’s owner has said “no” to granting the necessary easement for
the solar project to access the project parcel from Windcrest Road. CPG-holder has not
updated the PUC about the change in plans to not use Windcrest Road for clearing and
construction of Otter Creek Solar 2, but has proceeded with clearing using Cold River
Road despite petitioner’s testimony that “the clearing work will access the site via
Windcrest Road; they will not use Cold River Road."
The access to Otter Creek Solar 2, as shown on the most recent plans, is heavily posted
and leaves no question about the intention of the adjoining landowner.
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January 30, 2019
p. 9 of 10

	
  

In conclusion, VCE has identified several activities taking place at the Otter Creek Solar
2 project site that are inconsistent with the conditions of the CPG. CPG-holder is selling
firewood after testifying it could and would not, is burning wood after testifying it would
chip and mulch wood from the site, is creating air pollution which was not disclosed as
part of the analysis of the project, is not clearing the site according to project plans, has
introduced a public safety issue due to the use of a different access road, has not disclosed
the need for an easement from an adjoining landowner, and has not disclosed the
inability to obtain said easement.
Condition 1 of the CPG [VCE-10] states:
1. Construction, operation, and maintenance of the Project shall be in accordance
with the plans and evidence submitted in this proceeding. Any material deviation
from these plans or substantial change to the Project must be approved by the
Commission. Failure to obtain advance approval from the Commission for a
material deviation from the approved plans or substantial change to the Project
may result in the assessment of a penalty pursuant to 30 V.S.A. §§ 30 and 247.
VCE believes that CPG-holder has made material deviations from the plans, and CPGholder has made a substantial change regarding access to the project site for clearing and
construction. CPG-holder has not obtained advance approval from the Commission for
any changes to the approved plans, and therefore may be assessed a penalty. Given the
nature of the changes, it would be appropriate for the PUC to Stay the current work on
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VCE Complaint to PUC alleging CPG Violations
Case No. 8798, Otter Creek Solar 2
January 30, 2019
p. 10 of 10

	
  
the project until the use of Cold River Road for clearing and construction and the related
safety issues, and burning the trees and the related air pollution issues have been
evaluated.
VCE is concerned about the compliance record the owner of Otter Creek 2 is developing.
The first project completed by this developer is currently not screened according to the
conditions of the CPG and the PUC has opened an investigation into that issue. This
developer has two CPGs for forested sites in Bennington, one of which is in a residential
area where burning of the type being experienced in Rutland Town would be detrimental
to the health and welfare of the local residents. This developer also has one forested
project in the Proposal for Decision phase with two more forested projects promised for
filing soon, all in Bennington.
Can this absentee project developer be trusted to follow the conditions of the CPGs?
What assurances can the PUC provide the public that conditions will be followed? Can
the PUC order the CPG-holder to hire an on-site compliance officer to assure compliance
with the conditions of the CPG?
Thank you for giving these comments your consideration.
Respectfully submitted this 30th day of January, 2019 by

Annette Smith
VCE Executive Director
789 Baker Brook Road
Danby, VT 05739
(802) 446-2094
vce@vermontel.net
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STATE OF VERMONT
PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION
Case

No. 17-5024-PET

Petition of Chelsea Solar LLC, pursuant to
30 V.S.A. ç 248, for a certificate of public
good autho rizing the installation and
operation of the "Willow Road Project," a
2.0 MW solar electric generation facility
on V/illow Road in
Vermont
Order entered:

02/14/2019

Pnocprun¡,1 Onpnn Rr AronroN.u Bnrnrnc

I.

INrRonucrron

On January 31,2019, the Apple Hill Homeowners Association and the Mt. Anthony
Country Club (collectively, the o'Intervenors") filed comments with the Vermont Public

Utility

Commission (the "Commission") on the proposal for decision issued by the hearing officer and a
request for an oral argument.

The Intervenors argue that this Project and the neighboring Apple Hill Project, which we
approved in Docket 8454,1 are a single "plant" as defined by 30 V.S.A. $ S002(18). As part

of

our review of this argument, we examined the record of the Vermont Supreme Court case that

decided that aprevious iteration of the two Projects, as described to the Court in exhibits PC 155
and PC 156, were not a single plant pursuant to the statutory definition.2

'We

now ask the parties

to examine and comment on the attached exhibits PC 155 and PC 156, which are pa{.of the

public record ofthat case.
In this Order, the Commission directs the parties to file legal briefs by March I,2079,
further addressing the applicability of the definition of a single plant in this case considering PC
155 and PC 156. V/e

will hear oral argument after reviewing

these briefs and reply briefs.

Petition of Apple Hill Solar LLCfor a certificate of public good, pursuant to 30 V.S.A. S 248, authorizing the
installqtion and operation of a 2.0 MlV solar electric generationfacility øt I 133 Willow Road in Bennington,
Vermont, Docket 8454, Order of 9/26118, appeal pending.
2
in re Programmatic Changes to the Standard-Offer Program ønd Investigation into the Establishment of
Støndard-Offer Prices under the Sustainably Priced Energt Enterprise Development.(SPEED) Program,2014VT
1

29.
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il.
on May 2!,2013,Ecos

Energ

Bacxcnouilo

y LLC("Ecos") filed pc

155 and

pc

156

with the

Commission as attachments to its motion seeking the Commission's reconsideration of its
decision in Dockets 7873 and,7874. PC 155 and PC 156 are diagrams of the projects proposed

for standard-offer contracts by Ecos on Apple Hill in Bennington. The decision in Dockets 7873
and7874 denied a standard-offer contract to Ecos for the Apple Hill Project and granted a
standard-offer contract for the neighboring project, then cailed the Bennington Solar Project,
because the Commission determined that together the

two projects were a single plant.

On June 20,2013, Chelsea Solar LLC (1'Chelsea Solar") executed a standard-offer

contract for a2.0 MW solar facility to be located in Bennington, Vermont. This facility was
previously referred to as the Bennington Solar Project by Ecos. This is the standard-offer
contract that is applicable in this case.
On October 18,2013, Ecos filed PC 155 and PC 156 with the Vermont Supreme Court as
part of Ecos's printed case seeking a reversal of the Commission's decision.
On Maroh 28,2074,the Vermont Supreme Court reversed the Commission's decision.3
On May 12,20l4,Apple

Hill Solar LLC ("Apple Hill") executed a standard-offer

eontract for a2.0 MV/ solar facility to be located in Bennington, vermont.
On March 75,2015,epple Hill filed a petition for a certificate of public good authorizing
the construction and operation of a2.0 MW solar electric generation facility at
Road, Bennington, Vermont (the "Apple

lI33 V/illow

Hill Project").

On November 28,2017, Chelsea Solar filed the petition for the V/illow Road Project.
The Willow Road Project petition is a significantly amended version of the petition f,rled by
Chelsea Solar on June 19, 2014, in Docket 8302 (the "Chelsea Solar project").4 The Chelsea
Solar project was sited in approximately the same location as the

Willow Road Project but had a

larger footprint and was accessed from Apple Hill Road. The Chelsea Solar project was denied
by the Commission on February 16,2016.s

3
4

Id.

Petition of Chelsea Solør LLC for a certificate of publìc good, pursuant to 30 V.S.A. $ 248, øuthorizing the
installøtion and operaÍion of a 2.0 M!4/ solar electric generationfa¿itity at 500 Appte Hili Road, Bennington,
Vermont, Docket 8302.
5
Docket 8302, Order of 2/16/16.
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On November 30, 2017,the hearing officer in Docket 8454 issued an order which
determined that materials filed by Apple

Hill in support of an amendment of the Apple Hill

fro¡ect were administratively complete and deemed the proposed amendments'effective

as

of

October 30,2017.
On September 26,20|8,the Commission approved the Apple Hill Project as amended.6

Libby Harris, an adjoining landowner and the Apple Hill Homeo\ilners Association
appealed the Commission's approval of the Apple

Hill Project to the Vermont

have

jointly

Supreme Court.

The single-plant issue was not raised in that pending appeal.
On January 2,2019, the hearing officer issued a proposal for decision in this case

recommending that the Commission approve the V/illow Road Project, with conditions.
On January 3I,2019,the Intervenors filed timely comments on the proposal for decision
(the "Intervenors' Comments"). Among other things, these. comments argue that the Willow
Road Project and the Apple

Hill Project are a single plant as defined by 30 V.S.A.

ilI.

$ 3002(18).

DlscussroN nNn CoNcl-usroN

In their comments on the proposal for decision, the Inte{venors argue that the V/illow
Road Project and the Apple
exceedance of the 2.2

Hill Project are'Éfunctionally

one 4

MW solar array . . . in

MW cap for standard-offer projects."T This argument reiterates an

argument that the Intervenors made in their brief on the petition. The hearing officer dismissed
the Intervenors' argument in the proposal for decision as follows:

The Intervenors assert that because the V/illow Road Project and the
neighboring Apple Hill Solar Project are both accessed from Willow Road and are
both connected to the electric distribution grid via the same GMP line extension,
the two contiguous projects share infrastructure and therefore are functionally a
single 4 MV/ solar array. The Intervenors further assert that the projects do not
qualify as separate plants under "30 V.S.A. $ 8002(14)." The Intervenors thqrefore
oodoes
not meet the requirements to find the
argue that the Willow Road Project
Project is in the public good."
Chelsea iesponds that "the Intervenors' arguments are irrelevant to this
case." Chelsea contends that this is both because the criteria for a standard-offer
contract do not apply in a Section 248 permitting case and because the Willow Road
Project and the Appl,p Hill Solar Proje.ct factually meet the requirements set by 30
V.S.A. $ 8002 as interpreted by the Vermont Supreme Court.
6

Case

7

Intervenors' Comments at 21.

No. 17.5024-PET, Order of

9126/18
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I am not persuaded by the Intervenors' argument. The fact that both projects
are accessed by way of Willow Road and interconnect via the GMP line eitension
does not make them a single plant under Section 8002. The V/illow Road project,

like the Apple Hill Solar Project, will be an independent technical facility *ith u
separate access road from V/illow Road and a separate point of interconnection with

the new GMP line.
I recommend that the Commission conclude that the Willow Road project
is in the public good having been reviewed under the Section 248 criteriaand ihat
it remains in factual conformity with the Supreme Court's guidance regarding the
criteria for a standard-offer contract.s

This discussion does not reflect the information provided by exhibits PC 155 and pC 156, which
was not addressed in either brief of the single-plant argument.e Therefore, we are not satisfied
that the single plant issue has been sufficiently litigated and seek additional information.
The standard-offer project proposed by Ecos that was reviewed by the Vermont Supreme

Court as the Bennington Solar Project in exhibit PC 156 is substantially different from both the
Chelsea Solar project petition denied in Docket 8302'and,the Willow Road Project petition being
reviewed in this case. These differences include the relocation of the interconnection line for
the Project from the north to the south, in a Way that the Intervenors describe as'othe same milelong power line extension for interconnection to the grid,"l0 and the improvements to V/illow
Road to facilitate the construction and operation of both projects.
The Commission is directing all the parties to brief whether the differences between pC

V/illow Road Project are consistent with the Vermont Supreme Court's decision
interpreting the definition of "plant" in 30 V.S.A. $ 8002. The parties are further specifically
156 and the

requested to address whether the changes between what was proposed in the 2014 standard-offer

Vermont Supreme Court case and what was proposed in this Section 248 caseare so significant
as to require an amendment to the standard-offer contract, any other additional

filings by the

parties, or any other determination by this Commission.
We want a full briefing because the single-plant issue has not been litigated in this case
considering the difference in the current plan from exhibit

8

pc

156.

No. 17-5024-PET, Proposal for Decision dated l/2119 at 13-14.
Intervenors' Brief of 10;/19/18 at 16-18; chelsea Solar's Reply Brief of 11/2/1g at 10-1 1
r0
Intervenors' Brief of 1 0/ 191 18 at lB.

e

Case
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Therefore, we direct further legal briefs be filed by no laterthanMarch 1,2019, onthe
single-plant issue that more precisely address the Vermont Supreme Court's decision considering
the factual basis for that decision as embodied in exhibits PC 155 and PC
be due on March

8,2019.

So Onnnnnn.

156. Reply briefs will
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14th day of February, 2019

Dated at Montpelier, Vermont

Z. Roisman

)
)
)

PueLrc

Urlrrv

Covrr¡lssloN
Cheney

S

ara@lnarn

)
)
)
)
)

OF VERMONT

Orprce oF THE CleRrc
Filed

February 14, 2019

Attest:
Clerk of the C
Notice to Readers: This decision is subject to revision of technical errors. Readers are requested to notify
the Clerk of the Commission (by e-mail, telephone, or in writing) of øny appørent errors, in order rhat any necessary
corrections ntay be made. (E-mail address: p:øc.çtertc@ermolt.gov)
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Sarah L. J. Aceves
Vermont Department of Public Service
112 State Street
Montpelier, VT 05620
sarah.aceves@vermont.gov

(for Vermont Department of Public Service)

Merrill E Bent
Woolmington, Campbell, Bernal & Bent, P.C.
PO Box 2748
Manchester Center, VT 05255
merrill@greenmtlaw.com

(for Town of Bennington)

Lora Block
AppleHill Homeowners Association
34 McIntosh La
Bennington, VT 05201
lblock@sover.net

(for Apple Hill Homeowners Assoc)

**Jake Clark, Esq.
Vermont Department of Public Service
112 State Street
Montpelier, VT 05620-2601
jake.clark@vermont.gov

(for Vermont Department of Public Service)

L. Brooke Dingledine, Esq.
Valsangiacomo, Detora & McQuesten, P.C.
PO Box 625
Barre, VT 05641
lbrooke@vdmlaw.com

(for Apple Hill Homeowners Assoc)

L. Brooke Dingledine, Esq.
Valsangiacomo, Detora & McQuesten, P.C.
PO Box 625
Barre, VT 05641
lbrooke@vdmlaw.com

(for Mt. Anthony Country Club) (for Apple
Hill Homeowners Assoc)

Donald J. Einhorn, Esq.
Vermont Agency of Natural Resources
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Montpelier, VT 05602-3901
donald.einhorn@vermont.gov

(for Vermont Agency of Natural Resources)
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Bennington, VT 05201
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(for Mt. Anthony Country Club)

Michael Melone, Esq.
Allco Renewable Energy Limited
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mjmelone@allcous.com

(for Chelsea Solar LLC)

Thomas Melone, Esq.
Allco Renewable Energy Limited
1740 Broadway, 15th Floor
New York, NJ 10019
thomas.melone@gmail.com

(for Chelsea Solar LLC)

James Porter, Esq.
Vermont Department of Public Service
112 State St
Montpelier, VT 05620
james.porter@vermont.gov

(for Vermont Department of Public Service)

Alison Milbury Stone, Esq.
Vermont Attorney General's Office
109 State Street
Montpelier, VT 05609-1001
alison.stone@vermont.gov

(for Vermont Agency of Agriculture, Food and
Markets)

Robert E. Woolmington, Esq.
Woolmington, Campbell, Bernal & Bent, P.C.
PO Box 2748
4900 Main Street
Manchester Center, VT 05255
rob@greenmtlaw.com

(for Town of Bennington)
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Exhibit 8 - PUC Otter Creek DELAY
STATE OF VERMONT
PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION
Case No. 20-0233-PET
Petition of Otter Creek Solar LLC for relief
from standard-offer contract milestone
Order entered: 04/16/2020
ORDER ADOPTING PROPOSAL FOR DECISION WITH MODIFICATION
In this Order the Vermont Public Utility Commission adopts, with modifications, the
proposal for decision issued by the hearing officer and denies Otter Creek Solar LLC’s request
for an extension of the commissioning deadline in the standard-offer contract for the Otter Creek
2 solar electric generation facility in the Town of Rutland, Vermont.
PROPOSAL FOR DECISION
I.

INTRODUCTION

This case involves a petition filed by Otter Creek Solar LLC (“OCS”) with the Vermont
Public Utility Commission (“Commission”) for an extension of the commissioning milestone
contained in its February 3, 2018, standard-offer contract “until 12 months after the final, nonappealable, conclusion of all litigation” related to its Otter Creek 2 solar project (“OC-2”).
Based on the findings and conclusions below, I recommend that the Commission deny the
Petition.
II.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On December 14, 2017, OCS was awarded a standard-offer contract for the 2.2 MW
OC-2 project located in Rutland, Vermont. 1
On January 29, 2020, OCS filed its petition seeking an extension of the commissioning
milestone for the OC-2 project.
On February 12, 2020, the Vermont Department of Public Service (“Department”) filed
comments opposing OCS’s request.
No other individuals or entities filed comments.

1

See Case No. 17-3952-PET, order of 12/14/17.
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For the purpose of making factual findings, I am admitting the following documents into
the evidentiary record of this proceeding: Case No. 20-0233-PET, petition (the “Petition”); Case
No. 20-0233-PET, averment of Thomas Melone dated January 29, 2020; Case No. 20-0233-PET,
averment of Christopher Little dated January 29, 2020; Case No. 8798, exhibit OC2-BW-12 (site
plan); Case No. 8798, prefiled direct testimony of Brad Wilson dated August 22, 2016; Case No.
8798, certificate of public good (“CPG”) dated February 27, 2018; Case No. 19-3031-PET,
averment of Steve Broyer dated July 17, 2019; Case No. 19-3031-PET, averment of Jenn Conley
dated July 17, 2019; Case No. 19-3031-PET, averment of Chris Little dated July 17, 2019; Case
No. 19-3031-PET, averment of Thomas Melone dated July 17, 2019; Case No. 19-3031-PET,
exh. Joint 2 (OCS discovery responses); and Otter Creek 2 Solar Standard Offer Contract dated
February 3, 2018 (the “Contract”). 2
III.

FINDINGS

Pursuant to 30 V.S.A. § 8(c), and based on the record and evidence before me, I present
the following proposed findings of fact to the Commission.
1. The standard-offer contract applicable to the OC-2 facility had an effective date of
February 3, 2018. Contract at 14.
2. Based on the effective date of the Contract, the OC-2 facility was required to achieve
commissioning no later than February 2, 2020. Contract at ¶ 7.c.
3. The Contract states that it shall be null and void and of no further force and effect if
the commissioning milestone is not achieved, absent an order of the Commission to the contrary.
Contract at ¶ 8.
4. The contract provides that time is of the essence. Contract at ¶ 37.
5. OCS failed to meet the required commissioning milestone. Melone averment Case
No. 20-0233-PET, generally.
6. OCS undertook significant efforts to obtain a CPG for the OC-2 project. Melone
averment Case No-20-0233-PET, generally; Little averment Case No. 20-0233-PET, generally.
7. The Commission awarded OCS the CPG for the OC-2 project on February 27, 2018,
in Case No. 8798. CPG, generally.
Any party that objects to the admission of these documents must file its objections at the time it files comments
on this proposal for decision.
2
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8. Condition 1 of the CPG required OCS to construct the OC-2 facility “in accordance
with the plans and evidence submitted in this proceeding.” And, “[a]ny material deviation from
these plans or substantial change to the Project must be approved by the Commission.” CPG at
¶ 1.
9. Sworn testimony and exhibits submitted by OCS in Case No. 8798 committed OCS to
conducting site clearing for and construction of the OC-2 facility using an access drive that
commenced off Windcrest Road adjacent to the southwest corner of the neighboring 4.9 MW
Otter Creek 1 Solar project (“OC-1”). The OC-1 project was issued a CPG on February 27,
2018, in Case No. 8797. Case No. 8798, exh. OC2-BW-12; Case No. 8798, Wilson pf. (8/22/16)
at 7, 8.
10. At the time OCS made these sworn representations, it had not yet obtained access to
either the OC-1 or OC-2 site from Windcrest Road. Melone averment Case No. 19-3031-PET at
¶ 33.
11. Unable to access the OC-1 and OC-2 sites consistent with its sworn representations in
Case Nos. 8797 and 8798, OCS decided to change its access point for site clearing and
construction purposes from Windcrest Road, a dead-end road serving a limited number of
properties, to Cold River Road, a Class 2 town highway. Case No. 8798, exh. OC2-BW-12;
Case No. 19-3031-PET, Conley averment at ¶ 14; Case No. 19-3031-PET, Broyer averment at
¶¶ 4, 5 and 9.
12. Beginning on January 12, 2019, OCS performed site clearing for the OC-2 project
using an unapproved access off Cold River Road instead of the approved access off Windcrest
Road. Case No. 19-3031-PET exh. Joint 2 at responses 1.7-1.9.
13. OCS did not notify the Commission or seek approval for the change in access for site
clearing. Case No. 19-3031-PET Melone averment at ¶¶ 20 and 21.
14. On June 13, 2019, the Commission opened Case No. 19-1596-INV to determine
whether Otter Creek violated Commission Rule 5.408 and the terms of its CPGs when it cleared
the two project sites using the unapproved Cold River Road access. The Commission stated that
the investigation would also examine whether the change to the projects rendered them a single
plant and, if so, whether the Commission should revoke OCS’s CPGs and standard-offer contract
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or take other steps if the Commission finds that the projects are in fact a single 7.1 MW plant.
Case No. 20-0233-PET Melone averment at ¶ 6.
15. At the time the Commission opened Case No. 19-1596-INV, OCS had still not
finalized its right to access the OC-1 and OC-2 project sites off Windcrest Road. Melone
averment Case No. 19-3031-PET at ¶ 33.
16. After the Commission opened Case No. 19-1596-INV, OCS filed a petition seeking
authorization to use the unapproved Cold River Road access to construct the OC-1 and OC-2
facilities (Case No. 19-3031-PET). The single plant question and the question of whether OCS
violated Commission Rule 5.408 by clearing the two project sites using the unapproved Cold
River Road access were moved from Case No. 19-1596-INV to Case No. 19-3031-PET. Petition
at 3-4.
17. On December 4, 2019, the Commission issued an order in Case No. 19-1596-INV
granting OCS’s motion for summary judgment finding that OCS did not violate the terms of its
CPGs when it performed site clearing using the unauthorized Cold River Road access. Petition
at 4.
18. On January 30, 2020, OCS withdrew its request for authority to construct the OC-1
and OC-2 facilities using the access point off Cold River Road. Petition at 4.
IV.

DISCUSSION

In this proposal for decision I recommend that the Commission deny OCS’s petition for
an extension of the commissioning milestone because OCS failed to proceed diligently and
because it could have avoided any delays by constructing the OC-2 facility consistent with the
sworn representations that it made in Case No. 8798.
Paragraph 7 of the February 3, 2018, standard-offer contract required OCS to achieve
commissioning of the OC-2 facility no later than February 2, 2020. The two-year
commissioning milestone is based on the requirement of 30 V.S.A § 8005a(h) that the
Commission shall administer the standard-offer program in a manner that selects projects “that
are reasonably likely to achieve commissioning.”
Section 8005a(j)(2) of Title 30 allows the Commission, upon the request of the plant
owner, to extend the commissioning period for a standard-offer project if it meets two
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requirements: (1) “the plant owner has proceeded diligently and in good faith,” and
(2) “commissioning of the plant has been delayed because of litigation or appeal.”
Absent a grant of the requested extension, the standard-offer contract for the OC-2
facility was rendered “null and void and of no further force and effect” when OCS failed to meet
the required commissioning milestone.
OCS asserts that it meets the requirements for obtaining an extension of the
commissioning milestone. According to OCS, it has proceeded diligently and in good faith and
the reason it was not able to meet the commissioning deadline was because of ongoing litigation
in Case Nos. 19-1596-INV and 19-3031-PET. OCS provides examples of the efforts it has
engaged in to develop the OC-2 facility as evidence of its due diligence and good faith. 3 OCS
then asserts that the possibility that the OC-2 facility might lose either its CPG or its standardoffer contract as a result of the Commission’s investigations in the two cases cited above
prevented it from constructing the facility in compliance with the commissioning deadline. 4
The Department opposes the requested extension and argues that the litigation that OCS
points to in support of its request is actually litigation that was brought on by OCS’s own actions
when it decided to use the unauthorized access off Cold River Road to perform site clearing,
instead of the previously approved access off Windcrest Road. According to the Department,
“[a] CPG-holder should not benefit from an extension of a standard-offer contract milestone
when it is responsible for the litigation that delayed the project.” 5 The Department contends that
“reasonable due diligence and an adequate title search in advance of obtaining a CPG” would
have solved any issues with access to the OC-1 and OC-2 sites. Further, the Department states
that “[s]ite access, obtaining necessary easements, and making appropriate filings with the
Commission to receive approval of revised site plans are all issues within OCS’s own control.” 6
The Department also argues that OCS cannot meet the good faith requirement for a
milestone extension because the litigation cited by OCS resulted from what the Department
contends was a violation of Commission Rule 5.408. According to the Department, the

Case No. 20-0233-PET Little averment, generally; Case No. 20-0233-PET Melone averment, generally.
Case No. 20-0233-PET Melone averment at ¶ 7.
5
Department comments at 2-3.
6
Department comments at 2.
3
4
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existence of a rule violation undercuts OCS’s argument that it proceeded in good faith and
provides another basis for denying the petition. 7
Lastly, the Department states that even if the Commission finds that OCS satisfied the
statutory criteria for obtaining an extension, the Commission should exercise its discretion and
deny the request because the delay was caused by issues within OCS’s control. The Department
does not recommend that OCS be prohibited from seeking a new standard-offer contract for the
OC-2 facility in the future. 8
I recommend that the Commission find that OCS does not meet either of the two
requirements for it to receive an extension of the commissioning milestone.
OCS did not proceed with diligence
OCS received the CPG for the OC-2 facility on February 27, 2018. As late as June 13,
2019, OCS had still not finalized its right to access the OC-1 and OC-2 project sites off
Windcrest Road as it represented it would in its sworn testimony in Case Nos. 8797 and 8798. In
other words, OCS allowed over 15 months to pass after it received its CPG for the OC-2 facility
without obtaining the access rights it needed to construct the project. This level of delay cannot
be characterized as acting with diligence and in and of itself is a sufficient reason to deny the
petition.
OCS’s diligence in pursuing the construction of the OC-2 facility is also called into
question as a result of it allowing a similar period of time to elapse, waiting until the summer of
2019, before seeking authority to access the project sites for construction purposes off Cold
River Road instead of from the previously approved Windcrest Road access. OCS didn’t even
begin clearing the sites using the unauthorized Cold River Road access until almost a year after it
received the CPG for the OC-2 facility. Additionally, OCS’s recent withdrawal of its request for
authorization to access the sites for construction purposes off Cold River Road suggests that it
has finally obtained access rights from Windcrest Road, approximately 3.5 years after the date it
first proposed using that access for construction purposes. 9

Department comments at 3-4.
Department comments at 4.
9
OCS filed its petition in Case No. 8798 on August 23, 2016.
7
8
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OCS’s dilatory attempts to finalize the access point off Cold River Road also runs
counter to the standard-offer program goal of granting contracts to projects that are reasonably
likely to achieve commissioning in a timely fashion. 10
OCS provides two averments that purport to list the efforts it has undertaken in pursuit of
the construction of the OC-2 facility. However, a review of the two averments shows that they
actually detail the efforts made by OCS to obtain a CPG for the project. They list little if any
significant effort at actual construction from the date the CPG was issued.
For the above reasons, I recommend that the Commission find that OCS has not
proceeded with due diligence in pursuit of the required commissioning milestone.
Construction of the project was not delayed due to litigation or appeal
I also recommend that the Commission find that completion of the OC-2 facility was not
delayed by litigation or appeal as those terms are used in the statute.
Section 8005a(j)(2) of Title 30 allows the Commission to extend the commissioning
period for a standard-offer project if, in addition to a finding that the developer has proceeded
diligently and in good faith, “commissioning of the plant has been delayed because of litigation
or appeal.” The clear intent of this statutory language is to allow for an extension of the
commissioning deadline for delays that result from a third-party seeking to stop or delay a
project by intervening in the Section 248 review of a proposed project, appealing an approval of
a project by the Commission, or instituting some other form of legal action. It is not intended to
allow for an extension when the post-CPG actions of a developer result in investigations before
the Commission into questions of compliance with applicable statutes, rules, or CPG
requirements.
In this case, construction of the OC-2 facility was not delayed as a result of litigation or
appeal. The Commission granted OCS a CPG to construct the OC-2 facility on February 27,
2018, using the Windcrest Road access point described under oath in Case No. 8798 by OCS’s
own witnesses and exhibits. All OCS had to do was construct the OC-2 facility consistent with
that testimony and those exhibits, as required by the CPG, and no delay would have arisen. As
noted above, if OCS had secured access rights off Windcrest Road in a timely fashion, much, if

10

See 30 V.S.A. § 8005a(f) and (h).
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not all, of the construction delay could have been avoided and the current petition would be
unnecessary.
OCS’s reliance on Case No. 19-1596-INV to claim that the delay was the result of
litigation is misplaced. While the scope of Case No. 19-1596-INV originally included the singleplant question and whether OCS violated Commission Rule 5.408, those matters were
subsequently moved out of that case and into Case No. 19-3031-INV. 11 As a result, the only
question remaining in Case No. 19-1596-INV was whether OCS violated Condition 1 of its
CPGs when it performed clearing at the project sites using an unauthorized access off Cold River
Road, and if so whether it should be penalized monetarily under 30 V.S.A. § 30. Therefore,
there was nothing about the existence of that investigation that prohibited OCS from proceeding
with the construction of the OC-2 facility consistent with the plans approved in Case No. 8798.
OCS’s reliance on Case No. 19-3031-PET is similarly misplaced. The Commission had
previously determined that the OC-1 and OC-2 facilities were separate plants, thereby
authorizing both the standard-offer contract and the CPG for OC-2. It was only the changes
undertaken by OCS in performing site clearing at the project sites in an unauthorized manner,
and the changes proposed by OCS for future construction and access to the sites that differed
from the plans approved in Case Nos. 8797 and 8798, that gave rise to the single-plant issue. To
avoid that issue all OCS needed to do was construct the two projects consistent with the sworn
representations it made in those two cases. Any litigation that has occurred with respect to the
OC-2 facility has occurred solely as the result of actions by OCS. The Commission should not
grant OCS the benefit of a contract extension because of actions that OCS chose to undertake
that were contrary to the sworn representations that it made to the Commission to obtain a CPG
for the project in the first instance.

See Case No. 19-1596-INV, Order of 8/8/19 at 2. It is the single-plant issue that could have resulted in the
loss by OCS of its CPG and standard-offer contract for OC-2. If the OC-1 and OC-2 facilities were actually a single
plant, the total capacity would have been in excess of the maximum allowable capacity for the standard-offer
program. Additionally, the OC-2 CPG would be invalid because it permits only a 2.2 MW project, not a larger
project. The OC-2 CPG would also be invalid because when OCS presented its evidence for the OC-2 facility it
relied on waivers of certain Section 248 criteria available to renewable energy facilities of no more than 2.2 MW. If
it lost those waivers because the two projects were actually a single plant, then the CPG for OC-2 would have rested
on a deficient evidentiary record.
11
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For the reasons discussed above, the Commission should find that the delay in the
construction of the OC-2 facility was not the result of litigation or appeal but was instead the
result of decisions made by OCS. Therefore, the petition should be denied.
V.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons discussed in this proposal for decision, I recommend that the Commission
deny the requested milestone extension because (1) OCS has not proceeded diligently with the
construction of the OC-2 facility, and (2) construction of the OC-2 facility was not delayed as the
result of litigation or appeal.
This Proposal for Decision has been served on all parties to this proceeding in accordance
with 3 V.S.A. § 811.
Dated at Montpelier, Vermont, this 14th day of February, 2020.

___________________________________
John J. Cotter, Esq.
Hearing Officer
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VI.

COMMISSION DISCUSSION

For the reasons discussed below, we adopt the hearing officer’s proposal for decision,
with modification, and deny OCS’s petition for an extension of the commissioning milestone in
the standard-offer contract for the OC-2 facility.
There are two significant facts that underlie the Commission’s decision in this case and
largely form the basis for denial of the requested extension of the standard-offer contract
commissioning deadline. First, OCS, by its own admission, had ample time to complete
construction of the project after it finalized approval to access the project site from Windcrest
Road. Thus, any difficulties in obtaining access to the site did not delay construction and do not
warrant extending the commissioning deadline. OCS, by its own assertion, could have
commissioned the plant before the standard-offer contract deadline had passed. Second, the
factors that led to the delays OCS allegedly experienced as the result of Case Nos. 19-1596-INV
and 19-3031-PET, and their alleged cloud on OCS’s ability to get financing, were self-inflicted
by OCS and wholly within its control. The Commission granted CPGs to OCS in Case Nos.
8797 and 8798 that raised no single-plant issues and no access-road issues. However, OCS
chose to modify those approved projects without Commission review or approval by altering the
approved access point for conducting site clearing at the two sites. That choice was completely
within OCS’s control and thus, even if the consequence of that choice was to endanger or delay
the funding of the project, the factors that led to the alleged delay were within OCS’s control and
do not justify extending the commissioning deadline.
On February 14, 2020, the hearing officer in this case issued a proposal for decision
recommending that the Commission deny OCS’s petition seeking an extension of the
commissioning milestone in the standard-offer contract for the OC-2 facility. Specifically, the
proposal for decision recommended denial of the petition because: (1) OCS did not proceed
diligently with the construction of the OC-2 facility, and (2) construction of the OC-2 facility
was not delayed as the result of litigation or appeal.
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On February 28, 2020, the Department of Public Service and OCS each filed comments
on the proposal for decision. OCS included a supplemental witness averment in support of its
arguments. 12
On March 20, 2020, OCS filed a “notice of subsequent event” and attached a copy of a
lawsuit that OCS, along with additional affiliated plaintiffs, filed against Joseph Kulkin, Jane
Does 1-3, and John Does 1-3. The lawsuit alleges that Mr. Kulkin and several unidentified “coconspirators” engaged in acts intended to defame OCS and interfere with OCS’s ability to obtain
access rights from Windcrest Road.
On March 25, 2020, the Commission held oral argument on the proposal for decision.
OCS’s comments on the proposal for decision consisted of both substantive arguments on
the proposed conclusions and exceptions to several of the proposed findings and portions of the
discussion. In today’s order we first address OCS’s substantive arguments and then its
exceptions to the proposed findings and discussion.
1.

The Substantive Arguments

OCS argues that there are three separate grounds for granting the requested extension.
First OCS contends that its inability to finalize the documentation for it to access the
project site using Windcrest Road entailed an approval outside the Commission’s control and
therefore warrants granting the requested extension.
Second, OCS argues that its inability to obtain financing in a timely fashion constituted
another event that required an approval outside the Commission’s control and again warrants
granting the requested extension.
Third, OCS asserts that the proceedings in Case Nos. 19-1596-INV and 19-3031-PET
constituted litigation that delayed the construction of the OC-2 facility and provides an additional
basis to grant the requested extension.
Windcrest Road Access
According to OCS, it acted diligently in its efforts to construct the project as evidenced
by its efforts to finalize its right to access the project site from Windcrest Road. OCS states that
it began negotiations to secure site access with the non-resident property owner of the adjoining
The Commission is admitting the supplemental averment of Christopher Little into the evidentiary record as
exhibit Case No. 20-0233-PET Little supp. averment.
12
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land in December of 2015 and received early indications that access would be granted. OCS
states that it engaged in significant efforts over a period of years to finalize an access agreement
but ran into difficulties because of the overseas location of the property owner and the small size
of the land transaction being contemplated. Eventually, OCS was able to finalize the documents
granting it access via Windcrest Road on July 18, 2019. 13 OCS contends that construction of the
project was delayed by its need to obtain the Windcrest Road access rights and that this was an
approval outside the control of the Commission.
At the request of a standard-offer project developer, the Commission may grant an
extension to a commissioning deadline if the Commission finds that the developer “has
proceeded diligently and in good faith and that commissioning of the plant has been delayed
because of . . . the need to obtain an approval the timing of which is outside the Commission's
control.” 14
OCS fails to meet this standard because by its own admission it still had sufficient time to
construct the project by the commissioning deadline even after it finalized its Windcrest Road
access rights on July 18, 2019. 15 Additionally, had OCS diligently sought Commission approval
to access the project site from Cold River Road instead of from Windcrest Road, it would not
have needed an approval outside the Commission’s control.
OCS relies on an earlier Commission decision in which an extension of a standard-offer
contract deadline was granted as a result of a loss of control over a project parcel. 16 However,
the case cited by OCS fails to support its position. First, as mentioned above, OCS admits that it
had obtained site access via Windcrest Road in time to construct the OC-2 facility by the
commissioning deadline. As a result, OCS is incorrect in its claim that the time needed to obtain
approval for that access caused it to be unable to meet the commissioning deadline.

Case No. 20-0233-PET Little supp. Averment at ¶ 3.
30 V.S.A. § 8005a(j)(2).
15
See, e.g., OCS comments at 16 (“In addition, the written agreement for access was finalized in sufficient time
to meet the commissioning deadline.”); id. at 16-17 (“[T]he final written documentation giving OCS full access
from Windcrest Road was executed in July 2019, in more than sufficient time to commission the project on-time.”);
and id. at 18 (“In addition, the written agreement for access was finalized in sufficient time to meet the
commissioning deadline.”).
16
OCS comments at 1-2, 7, and 19 (citing Request of Vermont Public Power Supply Authority to amend
standard-offer contract, Docket 8830, Order of 9/28/16).
13
14
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Second, the VPPSA case cited by OCS is plainly distinguishable from this case. In
VPPSA, the developer had obtained rights to the project parcel before filing for a CPG.
Subsequent events called those rights into question and the developer sought an extension of its
deadline to file a petition while it tried to find an alternate site or re-establish access to the
original site. The developer was able to re-establish access to the original site and then requested
an extension so that it could complete a needed system impact study before filing its petition.17
Unlike the developer in VPPSA, OCS filed its petition for approval of the OC-2 facility
before it had finalized access to the parcel for site preparation or construction purposes.
Throughout the case in which OCS obtained its CPG for the project, OCS represented that it
would be accessing the project site via Windcrest Road when it in fact had not yet obtained the
right to use that access. Based on that representation, and in the absence of any disclosure to the
contrary, the Commission granted a CPG for the OC-2 facility based on the Windcrest Road
access on February 27, 2018, approximately 17 months before OCS obtained its Windcrest Road
access rights. Unlike the developer in VPPSA, which sought an extension of the petition-filing
deadline to ensure that it had a readily developable project at the time it filed its petition, OCS
filed a petition containing representations based only on the goal of obtaining access from
Windcrest Road, not the reality of it. As a result, the VPPSA case does not support OCS’s
position.
In explaining the extended time it took OCS to obtain access rights from Windcrest Road,
OCS blames an individual who apparently attempted to dissuade the neighboring property owner
from entering into an access agreement with OCS. 18 The Commission has no jurisdiction over
OCS’s ongoing dispute with that individual. In any event, because OCS has claimed that it
ultimately obtained the needed access rights in time to meet the commissioning deadline in its
standard-offer contract, any delay that allegedly resulted is immaterial to this proceeding.
During the oral argument, OCS attempted to minimize the Windcrest Road access issue
by claiming that “the project always had access from Cold River Road.” 19 However, that
argument lends no support to OCS. OCS could have sought approval for access from Cold River
Road when it applied for its CPG or as soon as it realized that it might be delayed in gaining
Docket 8830, Order of 9/28/16 at 2-3.
OCS comments at 8 n.5.
19
Tr. 3/25/20 at 21 (Melone).
17
18
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access via Windcrest Road. Had OCS sought and obtained such approval, it would have
eliminated the “need” for OCS to obtain an approval outside the control of the Commission. The
need to obtain access from Windcrest Road would only have arisen if the Commission had
denied OCS access from Cold River Road. However, OCS has consistently taken the position
that there was no basis to support a denial of that access. And, in light of the fact that OCS never
sought and was never denied access from Cold River Road, OCS has no basis to claim that it had
a “need” for an approval to access the site that was outside the control of the Commission.
Additionally, at the time OCS received its CPG, OCS, unlike the Commission, was aware
that it could not begin constructing the project using Windcrest Road. This highlights another
opportunity for OCS to have sought an amendment to its CPG to allow it to construct the project
from Cold River Road and avoid the “need” for the Windcrest Road access.
OCS, however, states that it did not seek authorization for access from Cold River Road
because it reasonably relied on assurances from the neighboring property owner that obtaining
access rights from Windcrest Road would not be a problem. 20 However, OCS was unable to
obtain those access rights until July 18, 2019—approximately 17 months after it received its
CPG for the project, 35 months after it filed its petition for that CPG, and 43 months after it first
began negotiations on the subject in December of 2015. Even then, OCS waited until July 17,
2019, to file a petition seeking to access the project site from Cold River Road so that it could
commence construction. 21 Given the long history of OCS’s difficulty in obtaining site access
from Windcrest Road and the lack of a reasoned explanation for OCS’s failure to seek
authorization to use Cold River Road as a point of access for construction of the project earlier
than it did, we agree with the hearing officer’s proposed finding that OCS did not act with
appropriate diligence in pursuing construction of the project.
For the reasons discussed above, the Commission finds that OCS’s failure to meet the
commissioning deadline in its standard-offer contract was not the result of its inability to timely
obtain an approval that was outside the control of the Commission. By its own admission, OCS
obtained the Windcrest Road access rights in time to complete construction of the OC-2 project
by the required commissioning deadline. Additionally, we find that any delay experienced by
Case No. 20-0233-PET Little supp. averment at ¶ 3; tr. 3/25/20 at 21-22.
On January 30, 2020, OCS withdrew its request to use Cold River Road as an access point to construct the
OC-2 project.
20
21

Exhibit 8 - PUC Otter Creek DELAY
Case No. 20-0233-PET

Page 15

OCS was not the result of the need to obtain an approval for access that was outside the control
of the Commission because OCS always had the option to pursue Commission approval for
access from Cold River Road. Additionally, OCS’s failure to either timely seek Commission
authorization to access the project site from Cold River Road or to construct the project by the
commissioning deadline after receiving access rights from Windcrest Road represents a lack of
diligence on the part of OCS.
The Need for Financing
OCS also claims that project construction was delayed by its inability to get financing to
construct the project. OCS represents that obtaining financing to construct the project required
an approval that was outside the Commission’s control that prevented OCS from meeting the
commissioning deadline. According to OCS, its inability to obtain financing was the result of
two related cases before the Commission, Case Nos. 19-1596-INV and 19-3031-PET. OCS
claims that the existence of the two cases prevented it from obtaining financing to construct the
project because the cases posed a threat to both the project’s CPG and its standard-offer contract,
both of which OCS states were necessary to obtain project financing. 22 We address each case
separately, below.
Case No. 19-1596-INV
Case No. 19-1596-INV was an investigation that was opened on June 13, 2019. The
investigation was prompted by a complaint alleging that OCS had cleared the project site, as well
as an adjacent site that had been approved for a 4.9 MW solar project also to be built by OCS
(the “OC-1” project), in violation of its CPGs by clearing the sites using an access from Cold
River Road rather than the approved access from Windcrest Road. The Commission forwarded
the complaint to the Department of Public Service for investigation, and the Department then
recommended that the Commission open an investigation into the complaint.
On June 13, 2019, the Commission initiated an investigation into whether OCS violated
its CPG or Commission Rule 5.408 by clearing the project site from Cold River Road instead of
from Windcrest Road. The Commission also included within the scope of the investigation the
question of whether the previously approved OC-1 and OC-2 projects would actually share

22

OCS comments at 2, 3-4, 9-10, 19-20.
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infrastructure and therefore constitute a single plant. 23 In the event the two plants did constitute
a single larger plant of 7.1 MW in capacity, the plant would no longer qualify for a standardoffer contract because those contracts are not available to plants with capacities in excess of 2.2
MW. The CPG would also have been at risk because OCS presented evidence only for a 2.2
MW project, not a 7.1 MW project, and in fact relied on the waiver of certain Section 248
criteria available for plants up to 2.2 MW in capacity when it presented its case for the OC-2
CPG. If the two plants actually constituted a single, larger 7.1 MW plant, the evidentiary waiver
would have been lost and there would have been insufficient evidence in the record of the OC-2
case to support the earlier issuance of a CPG.
OCS contends that the Commission initiated Case No. 19-1596-INV on its own without
the authority to do so. According to OCS, a motion filed by a party under V.R.C.P. 60 was
required because the investigation was in part re-examining the validity of the project’s CPG and
standard-offer contract. OCS asserts that the possible revocation of both the CPG and standardoffer contract prevented it from obtaining financing and would amount to the imposition of a
financial penalty that is far harsher than the Commission has ever imposed for even the most
egregious conduct by a Commission-regulated entity. 24
We first address OCS’s challenge to the Commission’s authority to re-examine the OC-2
project’s qualifications for holding both its CPG and the standard-offer contract. OCS’s
argument fails to recognize the scope of the Commission’s jurisdiction. Generally, the
Commission may issue orders on its own motion with respect to any matter within its
jurisdiction. 25 More specifically, the Commission has jurisdiction over contracts awarded under
the standard-offer program, including the standard-offer contract that governs the production and
sale of the output from the OC-2 facility. 26 These statutory sections provide the Commission
with the authority to review the status of the OC-2 facility when new facts are brought to its
attention, either on its own motion or otherwise.
Case No. 19-1596-INV, Order of 6/13/19 at 3 (“Otter Creek’s use of a new driveway off Cold River Road to
access both facilities has implications beyond any potential violation of a CPG or Rule 5.408. To demonstrate that
the facilities were separate plants, Otter Creek’s witness testified that the Otter Creek I and Otter Creek II facilities
would not share infrastructure, such as access roads. The use of a common access road calls into question whether
the two facilities are in fact separate plants.”).
24
OCS comments at 4-7.
25
30 V.S.A. §§ 2(c) and 209.
26
30 V.S.A. § 8005a.
23
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In this case, a complaint from a member of the public brought new facts to the
Commission’s attention—specifically that OCS had accessed the project site for clearing
purposes in a manner that was inconsistent with the representations that OCS made to the
Commission in seeking its CPG for the OC-2 project in Case No. 8798. This information, which
was not discoverable at the time the CPG was issued, warranted the Commission initiating an
investigation into whether the CPG or Commission Rule 5.408 was violated for the purpose of
assessing a civil penalty.
The new facts also implicated the project’s CPG and standard-offer contract because,
depending on OCS’s plans for permanent access, the OC-2 project actually may have been part
of a larger 7.1 MW project in conjunction with the adjacent 4.9 MW OC-1 project. At the time
Case No. 19-1596-INV was opened, the Commission had no conclusive information on what
OCS’s plans were for permanent access to the two facilities given OCS’s significant departure
from its sworn representations in Case Nos. 8797 and 8798 regarding site access from Windcrest
Road for clearing purposes. This warranted an investigation into those plans and whether the
two projects actually were a single plant. As noted above, if they were a single plant, this larger
plant would not qualify for the standard-offer contract awarded to the OC-2 facility nor could the
OC-2 CPG stand because the evidentiary record in that case was for a 2.2 MW project, not a 7.1
MW project.
OCS’s argument that the loss of the standard-offer contract and CPG for the OC-2 facility
would exceed any penalty previously imposed by the Commission misses the point. The case
OCS points to was a penalty case under 30 V.S.A. § 30 in which a monetary penalty was
imposed pursuant to the provisions of that section. If OC-2 had lost its CPG or standard-offer
contract in either Case No. 19-1596-INV or 19-3031-PET, it would not have been the result of a
penalty under Section 30. Rather, the loss would have been the result of unapproved changes to
the OC-1 and OC-2 projects that would have rendered OC-2 unqualified to hold either the
contract or the CPG. And, unlike the determination of the amount of a civil penalty under
Section 30, the Commission has no discretion to allow a standard-offer contract to remain in
place for a project in excess of 2.2 MW nor to allow a CPG to stand in the face of a failure of
evidence needed to support the issuance of a CPG.
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The existence of Case No. 19-1596-INV also fails to support OCS’s position because the
scope of that case was narrowed to examine only whether OCS violated the CPGs it received for
both the OC-1 and OC-2 projects when it cleared the project sites using an access off Cold River
Road instead of the approved access off Windcrest Road. OCS argues that it was the threat of
the loss of the CPG and standard-offer contract that prevented it from obtaining financing to
construct the OC-2 project. However, the questions of whether the OC-1 and OC-2 projects
were actually a single plant, and whether OCS violated Rule 5.408 by accessing the project sites
for clearing purposes from an unapproved access point off Cold River Road, were transferred to
Case No. 19-3031-PET on August 8, 2019. 27 Therefore, the only issue remaining in Case No.
19-1596-INV was whether OCS violated its CPGs by performing site clearing from the
unapproved Cold River Road access and whether a civil penalty should be imposed for any such
violation. OCS has not argued that the possible imposition of a monetary civil penalty for a past
violation of its CPGs interfered with its ability to obtain financing.
For the reasons stated above and in the hearing officer’s proposal for decision, OCS’s
reliance on Case No. 19-1596-INV is misplaced.
Case No. 19-3031-PET
Case No. 19-3031-PET was opened in response to a petition filed by OCS seeking either
a non-substantial change determination or amendments to the CPGs issued by the Commission in
Case Nos. 8797 and 8798 authorizing a change in the access point for construction of both the
OC-1 and OC-2 projects and for operation and maintenance of the OC-1 project. As originally
approved, site clearing and construction of both projects would occur using an access off
Windcrest Road. Permanent operations and maintenance for the OC-1 project would rely on the
same Windcrest Road access, while permanent operations and maintenance for the OC-2 project
would use an access off Cold River Road. As noted above, the scope of this case also included
the questions of whether OCS violated Commission Rule 5.408 when it performed site clearing
using an access off Cold River Road instead of the approved Windcrest Road access, and
whether the two projects actually constituted a single, larger 7.1 MW facility.
OCS’s argument regarding the potential loss of its CPG and standard-offer contract for
the OC-2 facility fares no better in the context of Case No. 19-3031-PET than it did in the
27

Case No. 19-1596-INV, Order of 8/8/19 at 2.
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context of Case No. 19-1596-INV. The potential loss of the OC-2 CPG and its eligibility for a
standard-offer contract were both questions to be resolved in Case No. 19-3031-PET. However,
all OCS had to do to resolve those questions was to revert to the project plans that were approved
in Case No. 8798, which specified access to the OC-2 site for construction purposes from
Windcrest Road. While the hearing officer made this point in the proposal for decision, it is
even more significant now that OCS has admitted that it had finalized its right to access the
project site from Windcrest Road in more than enough time to construct the OC-2 facility before
the expiration of the commissioning deadline.
OCS indicates that the final documentation allowing it to access the project site from
Windcrest Road was executed on July 18, 2019, only one day after it filed its petition in Case
No. 19-3031-PET. However, rather than simply construct the project consistent with the plans
approved by the Commission in Case No. 8798, OCS continued to pursue its newly proposed
alternative access from Cold River Road in Case No. 19-3031-PET and did not withdraw its
request for approval of the alternative access until January 30, 2020, just days before the
commissioning deadline.
Had OCS promptly withdrawn its request for alternative access from Cold River Road, it
would have eliminated the need to investigate whether its new access proposal rendered the OC1 and OC-2 facilities a single plant, thereby removing the only claimed impediment to OCS
obtaining financing to construct the project.
OCS attempts to recharacterize the basis for the Commission’s decision to investigate
the access issue, initially in Case No. 19-1596-INV and then in Case No 19-3031-PET.
According to OCS, the Commission opened the question of whether the OC-1 and OC-2 projects
were actually a single, larger project not because they used an unapproved access point off Cold
River Road to clear the sites, but because the two projects temporarily shared that access for that
purpose. In other words, OCS argues, it did not matter whether OCS accessed the sites from
Cold River Road or Windcrest Road because OCS would have used a shared access for site
clearing and construction either way, and it was the use of a shared access that prompted the
Commission to act. As a result, OCS argues, the potential loss of the CPG and standard-offer
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contract still existed even if OCS followed the plans that were previously approved in Case No.
8798. 28
OCS is mistaken. The issue of using a temporarily shared access from Windcrest Road
for clearing two separate sites and constructing two separate projects was reviewed and approved
in Case Nos. 8797 and 8798. Consistent with that earlier approval, the Commission determined
in Case No. 19-3031-PET that the temporary shared use of the Cold River Road access for site
clearing did not render OC-1 and OC-2 a single larger plant, leaving the OC-2 contract and CPG
intact. 29 All OCS needed to do to resolve any issues related to the single-plant question was to
proceed with the development of the two projects as approved in Case Nos. 8797 and 8798—
something OCS now represents it was capable of doing as of July 18, 2019, in time to meet the
commissioning deadline. It was only OCS’s unilateral decision to depart from approved plans
that led to the opening of the new investigation and the inclusion of the single-plant question.
But for OCS’s actions, the status of OC-2’s standard-offer contract and CPG would never
have been called into question and OCS would not have had its alleged difficulties in obtaining
financing to construct the project. 30 And as discussed above, OCS had the alternative to timely
seek Commission approval for alternate access to the project site, thereby resolving any
questions about the status of the CPG and contract in time for it to proceed with its plans.
Instead, OCS made the unilateral decision to proceed with the project in a manner inconsistent
with the approved project plans. That decision was the direct cause of the investigation into the
single-plant question and whether the OC-2 project still qualified for its contract and CPG. Had
OCS either constructed the plant consistent with the plans approved in Case Nos. 8797 and 8798,
or timely sought Commission authority for access from Cold River Road, then the only issue left
for consideration in Case No. 19-3031-PET would have been whether OCS violated Commission
Rule 5.408, and if so, whether a monetary penalty should be imposed. As with Case No. 191596-INV, OCS has not argued that the potential for a monetary penalty created an impediment
to obtaining financing.
OCS comments at 3-4.
Case No. 19-3031-PET, Order of 3/19/20 at 30.
30
We further note that OCS has not adequately explained its claim that it was without financing to construct the
OC-2 project. OCS states that it has already obtained the solar panels needed to construct the project. OCS
comments at 3 and 17. Thus, without any of the financing it claims it needs, OCS has already paid for one of the
largest expenses of the project.
28
29
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In support of its position, OCS cites to a case in which the Commission extended a
standard-offer contract commissioning deadline for a developer that was in the process of
finalizing financing arrangements for a project. 31 However, in that case the need for the
commissioning deadline extension was driven primarily by the length of time that it took for the
Section 248 case to conclude and the CPG to issue. The loan commitment that the developer had
obtained for the project coincidentally expired on the same day the CPG was issued. The lender
renewed its loan commitment about one-and-a-half weeks later but, given the limited time left
between the date the CPG was issued and the commissioning deadline, required as a condition of
the loan closing that the commissioning deadline be extended. 32
The current situation bears little resemblance to that in Barton. In Barton the need for an
extension was driven by the length of time needed to complete what was a heavily contested
Section 248 case and the requirement of a deadline extension by a lender that was ready, willing,
and able to commit to the project so long as the deadline was extended. Here, OCS obtained its
CPG in more than enough time to construct the project by the commissioning deadline and there
was no lender requirement that the deadline be extended. And, unlike the Barton case, OCS’s
alleged financing problems arose as the result of its own unauthorized actions.
For the reasons stated above and as explained in the hearing officer’s proposal for
decision, OCS’s reliance on Case No. 19-3031-PET is misplaced.
Delay due to Litigation or Appeal
OCS contends that the hearing officer erred when he concluded that the OC-2 project did
not qualify for an extension based on a litigation-related delay because it was OCS’s own actions
that led to the Commission’s investigation in Case No. 19-1596-INV. According to OCS, that
conclusion is incorrect because the statute contains no such limitation based on the cause of the
litigation and because OCS’s actions did not warrant the opening of an investigation by the
Commission.
We agree with the hearing officer’s application of Section 8005a(j)(2) and his
conclusions regarding OCS’s actions that gave rise to the investigation in Case No. 19-1596INV, and subsequently 19-3031-PET.
31
32

Request by Barton Solar LLC, Case No. 8312, Order of 7/24/14.
Case No. 8312, Order of 7/24/14 at 2-3.
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We acknowledge that Section 8005a(j)(2) does not expressly limit the types of litigation
that can be relied on in support of an extension request for a standard-offer contract deadline.
However, the reading of the statute advanced by OCS would lead to impermissibly absurd results
contrary to the intent of the Legislature. The statute therefore cannot be applied in that manner. 33
For example, under the reading advanced by OCS, if a project developer committed fraud related
to the financing of a standard-offer project and his or her prosecution caused a delay in meeting
the project’s commissioning deadline, that developer would be entitled to an extension of the
commissioning deadline. The Legislature could not have intended such an absurd result.
While the circumstances of this case are not as extreme as the example just given, there is
a clear parallel. The investigation into OCS’s unauthorized activities was the direct result of
OCS engaging in those activities in disregard of its regulatory obligations. We do not believe
that the Legislature intended to provide the benefit of an extension of a standard-offer contract
under such circumstances. We conclude that the hearing officer’s reasoning is sound and reject
OCS’s arguments to the contrary.
During the March 25 oral argument, OCS stated that not just any litigation would support
an extension of a standard-offer contract commissioning deadline. As an example of litigation
that would not fall within the language of Section 8005a(j)(2), OCS cited to a case that OCS filed
against the Vermont Agency of Transportation in an attempt to reduce a required setback from
50 feet to 10 feet for its Battle Creek Solar project. OCS stated that the litigation did not halt the
construction of that project because OCS simply constructed the project with the 50-foot setback,
as it had been approved. 34 However, the same holds true in this case. If OCS had simply
developed the project, including clearing the site, as had been approved in Case No. 8798, then
Case No. 19-1596-INV would never have been commenced.
In support of its claim that there was no basis for the Commission to commence an
investigation into its use of an unapproved access off Cold River Road to clear the OC-1 and
OC-2 sites, OCS points to the final order in Case No. 19-1596-INV. In that order the
Commission found that OCS did not violate its CPGs when it cleared those sites off Cold River
See, e.g., Rhodes v. Town of Georgia, 166 Vt. 153, 157 (1997) (“We have long held that statutes should not be
construed to produce absurd or illogical consequences.).
33

34

Tr. 3/25/20 at 10-11 (Melone).
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Road rather than Windcrest Road. However, OCS’s reliance on the Commission’s decision in
that case is misplaced. The Commission did not determine that OCS’s actions in clearing the
project sites using the unapproved access off Cold River Road, as opposed to the approved
access off Windcrest Road, were acceptable. In deciding that OCS’s actions did not violate the
conditions of the CPGs issued to it in Case Nos. 8797 and 8798, the Commission determined
only that OCS was the unintended beneficiary of a drafting oversight when the words “site
preparation” were not included in Condition One of the CPGs. 35 OCS’s reliance on that case is
further undermined by the Commission’s conclusion in Case No. 19-3031-PET that OCS
violated Commission Rule 5.408 when it performed its site clearing using the unapproved access
from Cold River Road instead of the approved access off Windcrest Road. 36
OCS also argues that the hearing officer incorrectly applied Commission Rule 5.408 in
Case No-19-3031-PET when he concluded that the rule focuses on the potential for significant
impacts that can result from proposed changes to a project. 37 The Commission has already
reviewed and rejected those arguments in its final order in Case No-19-3031-PET and there is no
need to repeat that analysis here. 38 For purposes of today’s order, we agree with the hearing
officer that OCS’s own actions were the direct cause of the investigations into its use of an
unauthorized access to clear both the OC-1 and OC-2 sites, and that enforcement actions such as
those involved in Case Nos. 19-1596-INV and 19-3031-PET do not support a standard-offer
contract extension request on the grounds of delay caused by litigation or appeal.
2.

Specific Exceptions

Proposed Findings
Finding No. 2. OCS disagrees with proposed finding 2 because it believes that the
commissioning deadline for the OC-2 project occurred on February 3, 2020, not February 2,
2020, as the hearing officer found.
We decline to adopt proposed finding number 2 because it is not a material fact to the
decision in this case. The record supports proposed finding number 5 and its statement that OCS

Case No. 19-1596-INV, Order of 12/4/19 at 11.
Case No. 19-3031-PET, Order of 3/19/20 at 30-35.
37
OCS comments at 4, 10.
38
Case No. 19-3031-PET, Order of 3/19/20 at 30-35.
35
36
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failed to meet the commissioning milestone in its standard-offer contract for the OC-2 facility.
This renders proposed finding number 2 unnecessary.
Finding No. 9. OCS takes exception to proposed finding number 9. According to OCS,
the word “committed” should be changed to “stated” because OC-2’s CPG allows for nonsubstantial changes and non-material alterations to the project.
We decline to adopt OCS’s requested change to the proposed finding. OCS’s witness
testified under oath in Case No. 8798 that site clearing for the OC-2 project would rely on an
access off Windcrest Road. The Commission views such sworn statements as commitments, and
as the Commission found in Case No. 19-3031-PET, the change in access from Windcrest Road
to Cold River Road for clearing the site was an unapproved substantial change to the project that
violated Commission Rule 5.408.
Finding No. 10. OCS requests significant changes to proposed finding number 10 and
the inclusion of additional findings.
We decline to adopt OCS’s requested changes because the finding is accurate and
supported by the evidentiary record. With respect to OCS’s argument regarding
decommissioning activities from Cold River Road, we reviewed and rejected that argument in
Case No. 19-3031-PET and therefore do not repeat that analysis here. 39
Finding No. 11. OCS objects to this finding, stating that it fails to include relevant
context and omits the fact that access to Windcrest Road is off the busy Vermont Route 7, and
asks that the words “and construction” be stricken from the proposed finding.
We reject OCS’s requested changes to the proposed finding. The finding is accurate and
supported by the evidentiary record. According to OCS’s petition and supporting affidavits in
Case No. 19-3031-PET, construction access for both the OC-1 and OC-2 projects was proposed
to be changed from Windcrest Road to Cold River Road. It was not until January 30, 2020, that
OCS withdrew its request to construct the projects using a Cold River Road access. Lastly, there
is nothing in the factual record to support expanding the finding to include a description of Route
7.
Finding Nos. 12, 13, 14, 16, and 17. OCS objects to these proposed findings because
they use the word “unauthorized” or “unapproved” in describing the use of the access from Cold
39

See Case No. 19-3031-PET, Order of 3/19/20 at 34-35.
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River Road for site-clearing purposes, or otherwise imply that Commission approval was
required for that purpose.
We decline to make any changes to the proposed findings. The Commission never
approved or authorized access for site clearing using Cold River Road. The findings are
therefore factually accurate. In addition, our final order in Case No. 19-3031-PET explains why
OCS was required to obtain Commission approval for that access. 40
Finding No. 15. OCS restates its objections to proposed finding 10 with respect to
proposed finding 15.
We decline to adopt any changes to proposed finding 15 because it is accurate and based
on the evidentiary record of this case.
Discussion
a. Otter Creek objects to the following passage on page 4 of the proposed decision:
OCS failed to proceed diligently and because it could have avoided any delays
by constructing the OC-2 facility consistent with the sworn representations that
it made in Case No. 8798.
OCS’s objection is misplaced. The language cited is part of the hearing officer’s
recommendation to the Commission. The full passage reads:
In this proposal for decision I recommend that the Commission deny OCS’s
petition for an extension of the commissioning milestone because OCS failed to
proceed diligently and because it could have avoided any delays by constructing
the OC-2 facility consistent with the sworn representations that it made in Case
No. 8798.
OCS is free to request (as it has) that the Commission disagree with and not adopt the
recommendation, but the Commission will not disturb the language of that recommendation.
b. Also on page 4, OCS objects to the following statement:
Paragraph 7 of the February 3, 2018, standard-offer contract required OCS to
achieve commissioning of the OC-2 facility no later than February 2, 2020.
OCS raises the same objections to this statement as it raised to proposed finding 2. As
discussed in response to those objections, the specific date of the commissioning deadline is not
material to this decision because the record demonstrates beyond dispute that the deadline was
not met. We therefore decline to adopt this statement as part of our decision.
40

See Case No. 19-3031-PET, Order of 3/19/20 at 30-35.
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c. Also on page 4, OCS objects to the following statement:
Absent a grant of the requested extension, the standard-offer contract for the OC2 facility was rendered “null and void and of no further force and effect” when
OCS failed to meet the required commissioning milestone.
According to OCS, the proposed statement involves questions “under contract law, the
Vermont Uniform Commercial Code, the Federal Power Act, the United States and Vermont
Constitutions and 42 U.S.C. §1983, which are all within the jurisdiction of the courts, not the
Commission. Therefore, the proposed statement is clearly erroneous, not based upon substantial
evidence and is arbitrary and capricious.” 41
We decline to make any changes to the language cited by OCS. The language of the
contract is plain and speaks for itself. Additionally, the extension of a standard-offer contract
deadline lies squarely within the Commission’s jurisdiction under 30 V.S.A. § 8005a(j)(2).
d. On page 5, OCS takes exception to the use of the word “unauthorized” in the first
sentence of the first full paragraph on that page.
For the reasons discussed above in declining to make any changes in the proposed
findings in response to the same objection, we decline to make the requested change in the
discussion.
e. On page 6, OCS takes exception to the following passage:
As late as June 13, 2019, OCS had still not finalized its right to access the OC-1
and OC-2 project sites off Windcrest Road as it represented it would in its sworn
testimony in Case Nos. 8797 and 8798. In other words, OCS allowed over 15
months to pass after it received its CPG for the OC-2 facility without obtaining
the access rights it needed to construct the project. This level of delay cannot be
characterized as acting with diligence and in and of itself is a sufficient reason to
deny the petition.
According to OCS, it did proceed diligently with construction of the project and points to
the fact that it finalized its Windcrest Road access rights on July 18, 2019, in time to meet the
commissioning milestone. This actually supports the hearing officer’s recommended conclusion
that OCS did not proceed diligently with construction. If OCS had proceeded diligently, then the
milestone would have been met.

41

OCS comments at 15.
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OCS also mistakenly argues that it was free to use the temporary access from Cold River
Road and that the Commission’s investigations in Case Nos. 19-1596-INV and 19-3031-PET
were a superseding cause that prevented it from meeting the deadline. As discussed above, OCS
is incorrect on both points.
Lastly, OCS points to its being allowed to use Cold River Road for operations,
maintenance, and decommissioning to support its argument that its use of Cold River Road for
site clearing was permissible. This is not correct. The approved operations, maintenance, and
decommissioning activities used Cold River Road only for the smaller 2.2 MW OC-2 project.
The larger 4.9 MW OC-1 project was to use Windcrest Road for those purposes. In contrast,
OCS used Cold River Road to clear both project sites and was intending to construct both
projects using that same access up until the time it withdrew its petition for authority to do so on
January 30, 2020.
We find that the evidentiary record supports this portion of the hearing officer’s proposed
decision.
f. On page 6, OCS takes exception to the following passage:
OCS’s diligence in pursuing the construction of the OC-2 facility is also called
into question as a result of it allowing a similar period of time to elapse, waiting
until the summer of 2019, before seeking authority to access the project sites for
construction purposes off Cold River Road instead of from the previously
approved Windcrest Road access. OCS didn’t even begin clearing the sites using
the unauthorized Cold River Road access until almost a year after it received the
CPG for the OC-2 facility. Additionally, OCS’s recent withdrawal of its request
for authorization to access the sites for construction purposes off Cold River Road
suggests that it has finally obtained access rights from Windcrest Road,
approximately 3.5 years after the date it first proposed using that access for
construction purposes. OCS’s dilatory attempts to finalize the access point off
Cold River Road also runs counter to the standard-offer program goal of granting
contracts to projects that are reasonably likely to achieve commissioning in a
timely fashion.
OCS again argues that its diligence is exemplified by the fact that it finalized
documentation for its Windcrest Road access rights and by the fact that it has already purchased
panels for the project. According to OCS, but for the Commission’s investigations into OCS’s
unauthorized use of the Cold River Road access, the project would have been commissioned in a
timely fashion.
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We have already reviewed and rejected these arguments above and agree with the hearing
officer’s analysis. Accordingly, we decline to make any changes based on the exception.
g. Also on page 6, OCS takes exception to the following passage:
OCS provides two averments that purport to list the efforts it has undertaken in
pursuit of the construction of the OC-2 facility. However, a review of the two
averments shows that they actually detail the efforts made by OCS to obtain a
CPG for the project. They list little if any significant effort at actual construction
from the date the CPG was issued.
For the above reasons, I recommend that the Commission find that OCS has not
proceeded with due diligence in pursuit of the required commissioning milestone.
OCS argues that the cited language unfairly penalizes it for the efforts it undertook before
it was awarded the standard-offer contract.
We disagree. The proposed decision takes into account the efforts undertaken by OCS in
securing its CPG for the project. The proposed decision appropriately notes that the evidence
submitted by OCS indicates a lack of efforts on its part after the CPG was issued. 42 While the
earlier efforts are commendable, they needed to continue past the date of the CPG’s issuance to
meet the commissioning deadline, and that did not occur here.
h. OCS takes exception to the entire discussion on pages 7 and 8.
The discussion on pages 7 and 8 deals with whether construction of the OC-2 project was
delayed as the result of litigation or appeal. We have already reviewed and rejected all the
arguments advanced by OCS in support of this exception. Therefore, for the reasons discussed
above and the reasons advanced by the hearing officer in the proposal for decision, we decline to
make any changes in response to the exception.
OCS also again recites its arguments that it is entitled to the requested extension because:
(1) access from Windcrest Road required an approval outside the Commission’s control; (2)
obtaining financing to construct the project required an approval outside the Commission’s
control; (3) OCS has proceeded diligently and in good faith; and (4) any delay in commissioning
of the plant was due to litigation or appeal in the form of the Commission’s investigations in
Case Nos. 19-1596-INV and 19-3031-PET.

42

See proposed finding number 6.

Exhibit 8 - PUC Otter Creek DELAY
Case No. 20-0233-PET

Page 29

All these arguments have been reviewed and rejected above, and there is no need to
repeat the analysis here.
Lastly, Section 8005a(j)(2) states that the Commission may grant an extension to a
commissioning deadline if the Commission finds that, in addition to the developer proceeding
diligently and in good faith, commissioning was delayed because of litigation or appeal or the
need to obtain an approval the timing of which was outside the Commission’s control. 43 By
using the word “may” the Legislature has given the Commission discretion in deciding whether
or not to grant the extension sought by OCS, even assuming OCS meets the other requirements
set forth in the statute.
In this case, OCS could have avoided any delays caused by its difficulties in obtaining
access from Windcrest Road by timely seeking Commission approval to use Cold River Road for
construction access. The alleged financing difficulties that OCS claims to have experienced
were the product of its own actions—actions taken at least in part without regard to the
Commission’s regulatory oversight responsibilities. Furthermore, the Commission’s
investigations into the unauthorized use of Cold River Road to access the project site for clearing
purposes were the direct result of OCS’s own actions and could have been avoided by
developing the project according to the previously approved plans.
We decline to condone the types of actions undertaken by OCS by extending the
commissioning deadline in the OC-2 standard-offer contract. Granting the relief requested under
the circumstances of this case would open the door to almost limitless reasons for developers
seeking extension requests when delays are encountered, regardless of the reason for the delay.
We decline to open that door.
OCS may contend that the loss of the contract will be fatal to the future of the OC-2
project. This is not the case. OCS still holds a CPG for the OC-2 project and is free to submit a
bid for a new standard-offer contract for the project. 44 The Commission recognizes that a
competitive bid today may result in a contract with a lower price than what is reflected in the
contract OCS received for the project in February of 2018. This is an appropriate outcome
30 V.S.A. § 8005a(j)(2).
OCS can also choose to construct the project and sell the power through a negotiated bilateral agreement or
through the competitive market. OCS has already applied for and received a CPG for the neighboring 4.9 MW OC1 project, which must sell its output through one of these mechanisms.
43
44
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because the cost of constructing solar facilities has declined over time with a corresponding
reduction in the bid prices for these projects. 45
Standard-offer contracts provide long-term, preferential rates to the winning bidders of
the contracts. One purpose of the commissioning requirement is to bring these projects online
promptly to reflect the need for the project at the price established at the time of the winning
bids. Extending the OC-2 contract in the face of OCS’s self-imposed difficulties would
effectively penalize ratepayers by requiring them to pay a price for the project’s output that
reflects outdated construction costs, a price higher than what would be found in competitive bids
today. We decline to impose these higher costs on Vermont ratepayers given the circumstances
discussed in this order.
VII.

ORDER

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED by the Vermont Public Utility
Commission (“Commission”) that:
1. The findings, conclusions, and recommendations of the Hearing Officer are adopted,
except as modified above. All other findings proposed by parties, to the extent that they are
inconsistent with this Order, were considered and not adopted.
2. Otter Creek Solar LLC’s petition for an extension of the commissioning milestone in
the Standard-Offer Contract for the Otter Creek 2 Solar facility in Rutland, Vermont, dated
February 3, 2018, is denied.

The bid price for the OC-2 project was 10.2 cents per kWh. See Case Nos. 17-3952 and 8817, Order of
12/14/17. The winning solar project bids for 2019 standard-offer contracts ranged from a low of 8.38 cents per kWh
to a high of 9.1 cents per kWh. See Case No. 18-2820-INV, Order of 8/9/19.
45
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Dated at Montpelier, Vermont this

16th day of April, 2020

Anthony Z. Roisman

Margaret Cheney

Sarah Hofmann

.

)
) PUBLIC UTILITY
)
)
)
COMMISSION
)
)
)
OF VERMONT
)
)

OFFICE OF THE CLERK
Filed:
Attest:

April 16, 2020
Clerk of the Commission

Notice to Readers: This decision is subject to revision of technical errors. Readers are requested to notify
the Clerk of the Commission (by e-mail, telephone, or in writing) of any apparent errors, in order that any necessary
corrections may be made. (E-mail address: puc.clerk@vermont.gov)
Appeal of this decision to the Supreme Court of Vermont must be filed with the Clerk of the Commission
within 30 days. Appeal will not stay the effect of this Order, absent further order by this Commission or appropriate
action by the Supreme Court of Vermont. Motions for reconsideration or stay, if any, must be filed with the Clerk of
the Commission within 28 days of the date of this decision and Order.

Exhibit 8 - PUC Otter Creek DELAY

PUC Case No. 20-0233-PET - SERVICE LIST
Carolyn M.X. Alderman, Esq.
VEPP Inc.
P.O. Box 1938
Manchester Center, VT 05255
carolyn@veppi.org

(for VEPP Inc.)

Carolyn Browne Anderson, Esq.
Green Mountain Power Corporation
2152 Post Road
Rutland, VT 05702
carolyn.anderson@greenmountainpower.com

(for Green Mountain
Power Corporation)

Reginald Beliveau, Jr.
Swanton Village, Inc. Electric Department
P.O. Box 279
120 First Street
Swanton, VT 05488
rbeliveau@swanton.net

(for Swanton Village,
Inc. Electric Department)

Meredith Birkett
Village of Johnson Water & Light Department
P.O. Box 603
Johnson, VT 05656
vojmanager@townofjohnson.com

(for Village of Johnson
Water & Light
Department)

Victoria J. Brown, Esq.
Vermont Electric Cooperative, Inc.
42 Wescom Road
Johnson, VT 05656
vbrown@vermontelectric.coop

(for Vermont Electric
Cooperative Inc.)

Daniel C. Burke, Esq.
Vermont Department of Public Service
112 State Street
Third Floor
Montpelier, VT 05620-2601
dan.burke@vermont.gov

(for Vermont
Department of Public
Service)

Ellen Burt
Town of Stowe Electric Department
P.O.Box 190
Stowe, VT 05672
eburt@stoweelectric.com

(for Town of Stowe
Electric Department)

Exhibit 8 - PUC Otter Creek DELAY

William F. Ellis
McNeil, Leddy & Sheahan
271 South Union Street
Burlington, VT 05401
wellis@mcneilvt.com

(for City of Burlington
Electric Department)

Jonathan Elwell
Village of Enosburg Falls Water & Light
42 Village Drive
Enosburg Falls, VT 05450
jelwell@enosburg.net

(for Village of Enosburg
Falls Water & Light
Department Inc.)

Elijah D Emerson, Esq.
Primmer Piper Eggleston & Cramer PC
PO Box 1309
Montpelier, VT 05601
eemerson@primmer.com

(for Village of Enosburg
Falls Water & Light
Department Inc.) (for
Town of Northfield
Electric Department)
(for Town of Hardwick
Electric Department)
(for Village of Johnson
Water & Light
Department)
(for Vermont Public
Power Supply Authority)

Steven R Farman
Vermont Public Power Supply Authority
5195 Waterbury-Stowe rd
Waterbury Center, VT 05766
sfarman@vppsa.com
James Gibbons
City of Burlington Electric Department
585 Pine Street
Burlington, VT 05401
jgibbons@burlingtonelectric.com

(for City of Burlington
Electric Department)

Jeremy D. Hoff
Stackpole & French
P.O. Box 819
Stowe, VT 05672
jhoff@stackpolefrench.com

(for Town of Stowe
Electric Department)

Exhibit 8 - PUC Otter Creek DELAY
Bill Humphrey
Village of Lyndonville Electric Department
P.O. Box 167
20 Park Avenue
Lyndonville, VT 05851
bhumphrey@lyndonvilleelectric.com

(for Village of
Lyndonville Electric
Department)

Lauren Keyes
VEPP, Inc.
PO Box 1938
Manchester Center, VT 05255
lkeyes@veppi.org

(for VEPP Inc.)

Mari McClure
Green Mountain Power Corporation
163 Acorn Lane
Colchester, VT 05446
ceo@greenmountainpower.com

(for Green Mountain
Power Corporation)

Michael Melone, Esq.
Allco Renewable Energy Limited
1740 Broadway
15th Floor
New York, NY 10019
mjmelone@allcous.com

(for Otter Creek Solar
LLC)

Thomas Melone, Esq.
Allco Renewable Energy Limited
1740 Broadway
15th Floor
New York, NY 10019
thomas.melone@gmail.com

(for Otter Creek Solar
LLC)

Pamela Moore
Village of Jacksonville Electric Company
P.O. Box 169
Jacksonville, VT 05342
pmoore@jacksonvilleelectric.net

(for Village of
Jacksonville Electric
Company)

John Morley
Village of Orleans Electric Department
Municipal Building
One Memorial Square
Orleans, VT 05860
orloffice@villageoforleansvt.org

(for Village of Orleans
Electric Department)

Exhibit 8 - PUC Otter Creek DELAY
Craig Myotte
Village of Morrisville Water & Light Department
857 Elmore Street
Morrisville, VT 05661
cmyotte@mwlvt.com

(for Village of
Morrisville Water &
Light Department)

Ken Nolan
Vermont Public Power Supply Authority
P.O. Box 126
Waterbury Center, VT 05677
knolan@vppsa.com

(for Vermont Public
Power Supply Authority)

Jessica Patterson
Town of Hardwick Electric Department
PO Box 516
Hardwick, VT 05843
jess@hardwickelectric.com

(for Town of Hardwick
Electric Department)

Thomas Petraska
Village of Ludlow Electric Light Department
9 Pond Street
Ludlow, VT 05149
tpetraska@tds.net

(for Village of Ludlow
Electric Light
Department)

Patricia Richards
Washington Electric Cooperative, Inc.
P.O. Box 8
East Montpelier, VT 05651
patty.richards@wec.coop

(for Washington Electric
Cooperative Inc.)

Evan Riordan
Barton Village, Inc. Electric Department
P.O. Box 519
Barton, VT 05822
electricmanager@bartonvt.com

(for Barton Village Inc.
Electric Department)

Carol Robertson
Village of Hyde Park Electric Department
P.O. Box 400
Hyde Park, VT 05655
carol.robertson@hydeparkvt.com

(for Village of Hyde
Park Electric
Department)

Exhibit 8 - PUC Otter Creek DELAY
Matt Rutherford
Town of Stowe Electric Department
P.O. Box 190
56 Old Farm Road
Stowe, VT 05672
mrutherford@stoweelectric.com

(for Town of Stowe
Electric Department)

Jeffrey Schulz
Town of Northfield Electric Department
51 South Main Street
Northfield, VT 05663
jschulz@northfield.vt.us

(for Town of Northfield
Electric Department)

Ronald A. Shems, Esq.
Tarrant Gillies & Richardson
P.O. Box 1440
Montpelier, VT 05601-1440
rshems@tgrvt.com

(for Washington Electric
Cooperative Inc.)

Darren Springer
City of Burlington Electric Department
585 Pine Street
Burlington, VT 05401
dspringer@burlingtonelectric.com

(for City of Burlington
Electric Department)

Emily Stebbins-Wheelock
City of Burlington Electric Department
585 Pine Street
Burlington, VT 05401
estebbins-wheelock@burlingtonelectric.com

(for City of Burlington
Electric Department)

Melissa Stevens, Esq.
Green Mountain Power Corporation
2152 Post Road
Rutland, VT 05701
melissa.stevens@greenmountainpower.com

(for Green Mountain
Power Corporation)

Michael Sullivan
Town of Hardwick Electric Department
P.O. Box 516
Hardwick, VT 05843
msullivan@hardwickelectric.com

(for Town of Hardwick
Electric Department)

Exhibit 8 - PUC Otter Creek DELAY
Rebecca Towne
Vermont Electric Cooperative, Inc.
42 Wescom Road
Johnson, VT 05656
rtowne@vermontelectric.coop

(for Vermont Electric
Cooperative Inc.)

Exhibit 10 - ANR Brief in Support of Injunction
STATE OF VERMONT
PUBLIC UTILITY COMMISSION

Investigation pursuant to 30 V.S.A. §§ 30 and 209
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preparation at Apple Hill in Bennington, Vermont,
for electric generation in violation of 30 V.S.A. §
248(a)(2)

)
)
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)
)

Case No. 20-1611-INV

VERMONT AGENCY OF NATURAL RESOURCES BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF
PERMANENT INJUNCTION
Background
This matter concerns unauthorized site clearing activities which have occurred at
the 27-acre parcel known as the “Apple Hill site” in Bennington Vermont. The Apple
Hill site is forested and contains two plant species which are classified as rare in
Vermont. 1 The Apple Hill site is the subject of three related Section 248 petitions 2
concerning proposals by the Developer to construct and operate 4MW of solar electric
generation. 3
On June 26, 2020, the Vermont Public Utility Commission (“Commission”)
issued a temporary restraining order (“TRO”) after conducting an evidentiary hearing

One species, White Arrow-Leaved Aster (Symphyyotrichum urophyllum), is an S1-ranked very rare
species. The other species, Nimblewill Muhly (Muhlenbergia schreberi), is an S2-ranked rare species.
See, Robert Popp, Agency of Natural Resources (“Popp”) aff. 6/24/20 ¶ 6; see also, Exhibits ANR-9, ANR11; ANR-12; ANR-13; ANR-14; and ANR-15.
2
See, PUC Case Nos. 8302, 8454, and 17-5024.
3
PLH LLC (the owner of the Apple Hill site), Allco Renewable Energy Limited, Chelsea Solar LLC and
Apple Hill Solar LLC are all related entities under common ownership and control. See, Case No. 17-5024,
Petition of Chelsea Solar, Order dated 6/12/19, at 56, fn. 70; see also, Case No. 8454, Procedural Order Re:
PLH Motion to Intervene, dated 6/15/17, at 2. For purposes of this Brief, these entities are collectively
referred to as the Developer.
1

Exhibit 10 - ANR Brief in Support of Injunction

Case No. 20-1611-INV
ANR Initial Brief
January 29, 2021
4
(the “TRO hearing”) in this matter. The Commission determined that site preparation
had occurred in violation of the prohibition contained in 30 V.S.A. § 248(a)(2). 5 The
TRO was converted to a preliminary injunction and a second evidentiary hearing was
held on December 4, 2020. 6 At the conclusion of the hearing, the Commission requested
that the parties brief both the standards applicable to a preliminary injunction and the
standards applicable to a permanent injunction. 7
For the reasons set forth below, the Agency recommends, and requests, that the
preliminary injunction be made permanent.
Legal Discussion
I. The Commission should convert the preliminary injunction to a
permanent injunction prohibiting the Developer from conducting any site
clearing activities at the Apple Hill site.
The four factors that the Commission considers in determining whether to issue a
preliminary injunction are: “(1) the threat of irreparable harm to the movant; (2) the
potential harm to the other parties; (3) the likelihood of success on the merits; and (4) the
public interest.” 8 The Commission, at the conclusion of the TRO hearing, determined
that these four factors were met (and also determined that substantial and irreparable
harm existed due to the proposed tree clearing and the threat to rare plants), issued the

4

Investigation pursuant to 30 V.S.A. §§ 30 and 209 into whether the petitioner initiated site preparation at
Apple Hill in Bennington, Vermont, for electric generation in violation of 30 V.S.A. § 248(a)(2), Case No.
20-1611-INV, Order of 6/26/20.
5
Id., at 4.
6
Tr. 12/4/20 at 28.
7
Id. at 213-214.
8
Taylor v. Town of Cabot, 2017 VT 92, ¶ 19, 205 Vt. 586, 596, 178 A.3d 313, 319 (2017). See also, In re
Central Vermont Public Service Corp., 1994 WL 400981 (1994) (PUC Case No. 5686, Order dated
6/7/1994).

2
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TRO, and scheduled an evidentiary hearing on whether to grant a preliminary injunction. 9
The evidentiary record in this matter has been further developed through the proceedings
which have occurred since the TRO hearing. 10 The evidentiary record now confirms that
the Commission was correct in issuing the TRO (subsequently converted to a preliminary
injunction) and supports the issuance of a permanent injunction prohibiting any further
clearing at the Apple Hill site. 11
To obtain a permanent injunction, a party must demonstrate: (1) that it has
suffered an irreparable injury; (2) that remedies available at law, such as monetary
damages, are inadequate to compensate for that injury; (3) that, considering the balance
of hardships between the plaintiff and defendant, a remedy in equity is warranted; and (4)
that the public interest would not be disserved by a permanent injunction. 12
Here, irreparable injury has been suffered because multiple individuals of, not one
but, two separate species of rare plants have already been destroyed by the Developer’s
clearing activities at the Apple Hill site. Hundreds of additional plants are at risk of
destruction should the clearing activities resume by virtue of the fact they are located
within the remaining area the Developer admits it intends to clear. 13 In addition, the
See, Case No. 20-1611-INV, Order of 6/26/20 at 5-7. The evidentiary hearing, which was scheduled to
occur on July 9, 2020, was subsequently postponed after the Developer filed a motion on July 1, 2020 to
vacate the injunction hearing. See, Order of 7/2/2020 at 1.
10
The proceedings in this matter which have taken place since the June 26, 2020 TRO hearing include:
filing and admission of additional testimony and exhibits of multiple witnesses; a day-long hearing during
which cross-examination of witnesses was conducted; and the completion of discovery.
11
See, Commission Rule 2.406 (A)(3), which provides that the Commission may issue a permanent
injunction “after a hearing held upon legal notice and where the proceedings have allowed the parties
adequate opportunity to avail themselves of all procedures provided for by these rules and by all other
provisions of law.” At this stage of the proceeding, the parties have had adequate opportunity to avail
themselves to all such procedures contemplated by the Commission’s rules (see, fn. 10, above).
12
Entergy Nuclear Vermont Yankee, LLC v. Shumlin, 733 F.3d 393, 421 (2d Cir. 2013) (quoting Monsanto
Co. v. Geerston Seed Farms, 561 U.S. 139, 156 (2010)).
13
See, Popp supp. aff. 11/25/20 ¶¶ 18-23; Tr. 12/4/20 at 184-191 and 193-195 (Popp); Exhibits ANR-11;
ANR-12; ANR-13; ANR-14; ANR-15; Exhibit RK-2 (showing that the area cleared by the Developer in
June overlaps with the area where rare plants had been documented as depicted in ANR-14); see also,
9
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Developer has cleared mature trees at the Apple Hill site, including an area described by
the Developer’s logging contractor at the December 4 hearing as containing “full forest
cover”. 14
Rare plants which once existed at the Apple Hill site are now gone; they have
been destroyed by the Developer’s site clearing activities. 15 The mature trees that have
been cleared by those same activities also cannot be replaced (rather, they will take
decades to grow back). As such, monetary damages are inadequate to compensate for the
injuries which have occurred to the natural environment.
Any hardship on the Developer is minimal and is far outweighed by the harm to
Vermont’s natural environment, which the Agency is charged with oversight and
management of on behalf of the people of Vermont. 16 The Developer admitted at the
Exhibit PLH-TMM-5 (confirming additional asters will be destroyed if the clearing resumes). The Agency
notes that Exhibit PLH-TMM-5 contains information which exceeds the scope of the limited supplemental
information (i.e., the number of individual aster plants which existed in two aster polygons for which plant
counts had not previously been provided) that the Developer was directed to provide in the Commission’s
post-hearing order issued on December 8, 2020. That order describes the limited evidence to be allowed
after the evidentiary record was closed at the conclusion of the December 4 evidentiary hearing (see, Tr.
12/4/20 at 210 and 221). As such, the PLH exhibit contains inadmissible evidence (i.e., all information
beyond the plant counts for the two polygons). In addition, there is no foundation provided for the exhibit
and the accuracy of the information which it purports to contain (such as conclusions it offers by depicting
a finite number of aster plants that will be destroyed and contending others would not be (or haven’t
already been) destroyed – contrary to evidence presented at the 12/4/20 hearing). The reliability of exhibit
therefore cannot be adequately assessed. That said, the exhibit serves as an admission by the Developer
that multiple individual plants of the very rare aster have been destroyed, and that additional aster plants
will be destroyed if the Developer proceeds with the clearing it intends to perform.
14
See, Exhibit AH-RK-2; Exhibits ANR-2 and ANR-4; Tr. 12/4/20 at 48-52 (Kobelia). The mature trees
which have been cleared cannot be replaced. Rather, they will take decades to grow back. The Agency
notes that the tree clearing which has occurred constitutes land conversion for development purposes. This
is fundamentally different than silvicultural activities which are regulated by the Agency and which are, by
their nature, planned and conducted in a manner which promotes regeneration and are therefore sustainable.
15
See, Popp supp. aff. 11/25/20 ¶¶ 23 and 25; see also, Tr. 12/4/20 at 193-195 (Popp).
16
In additional to the broad array of environmental protection and management functions provided by the
Agency on behalf of the people of Vermont, it is noted that pursuant to 30 V.S.A. § 248(a)(4)(E), the
Legislature has directed that the Agency: “shall appear as a party in any proceedings held under [Section
248(a)], shall provide evidence and recommendations concerning any findings to be made [concerning the
natural environment], and may provide evidence and recommendations concerning any other matters to be
determined by the Commission in such a proceeding.” Thus, the Agency, by statute, is charged with
protecting Vermont’s natural environment on behalf of the people of Vermont in all such energy siting
proceedings before the Commission.
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TRO hearing that its plans to grow hemp and graze sheep were not likely to be realized in
2020 in any event. 17 Even with an injunction in place, the Developer is able to pursue its
solar electric generation project approvals, which it not only intends to do, but is in fact
doing through its pending appeals. Should the solar development proposals be approved,
the Developer may then proceed with site clearing (albeit in accordance with any CPG
conditions the Commission requires). At worse, the Developer’s “plans” to “farm” the
site are only delayed temporarily pending the conclusion of the underlying Section 248
matters and, if the Commission’s denials of the 248 petitions are ultimately sustained,
abandonment of its standard offer contracts and pursuit of energy generation at the Apple
Hill site.
The public interest would not be disserved by a permanent injunction. Rather, the
public interest would be served by the issuance of a permanent injunction because the
public has a strong interest in protecting natural resources (including rare species and
forests) and for the policy reasons discussed below.
II. Even if irreparable harm has not been demonstrated, a permanent injunction is
still warranted because the Developer’s activities violate a clear statutory
prohibition, its actions are substantial, deliberate, and persistent; and public
policy weighs in favor of injunctive relief to protect the integrity of the Section
248 process, prevent abuse by others and not penalize energy developers who
comply with regulatory requirements.
A. The clear violation of a statutory prohibition supports issuance of an
injunction even if irreparable harm has not been demonstrated.
The Commission, in discussing the injunction criteria, has stated that the criteria:
in toto are meant to inform a tribunal, but that a compelling showing upon
each single criterion is not an essential prerequisite to equitable relief.
Case No. 20-1611-INV, Order of 6/26/20 at 5. These “plans” appear to be of questionable provenance
having only recently come to light in the Developer’s proposed March 23, 2020 amendment in Case No
8454 (which amendment was denied by the Commission) despite years of site ownership and control by the
Developer dating back to before 2014, and its pursuit of solar projects during that entire time.
17
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[And that] …the criteria should be balanced so as to produce the “best
result.” 18
The Commission may still issue a permanent injunction even if irreparable harm
has not been demonstrated. A governmental entity authorized to seek an injunction to
enforce compliance is not required to show irreparable harm or the unavailability of an
adequate remedy before obtaining an injunction if the statute is silent as to the injury
caused. 19 Instead, it must merely show a violation of the governing law. 20
Here, the Agency (a governmental entity which is also statutorily charged to
appear before the Commission in energy siting matters) seeks an injunction because of
the Developer’s actions which clearly violate Section 248 (the law governing energy
siting in Vermont). The Commission, serving in its adjudicative role, has the discretion
to issue a permanent injunction within its jurisdiction even without a finding of
irreparable harm. 21 The Commission is an administrative body to whom the General
Assembly granted quasi-judicial powers. 22 In the exercise of these judicial powers, the
Legislature authorized the Commission to investigate claims and determine the facts
upon which the existing laws shall operate. 23
Clearly, it is within the Commission’s authority to investigate the Developer’s
clearing activities at the Apple Hill site (activities which are related to, and necessary for,

In re Central Vermont Public Service Corp., 1994 WL 400981 (1994) (PUC Case No. 5686, Order of
6/7/1994 at 3).
19
Town of Sherburne v. Carpenter, 155 Vt. 126, 129 (1990).
20
Id.
21
Trybulski v. Bellows Fall Hydro-Electric Corp., 112 Vt. 1, 7 (1941).
22
Id. at 7.
23
Condosta v. Vermont Elec. Co-op., Inc., 400 F.Supp. 358, 362 (D.Vt. 1975)(citing North v. City of
Burlington Electric Light Department, 125 Vt. 240, 214 A.2d 82 (1965).
18
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The Commission has

jurisdiction over property which is subject to the Commission’s oversight under Chapter
5 of Title 30. 25 This includes jurisdiction to hear, determine and render judgment. 26
Section 248, which lies within Chapter 5 of Title 30, regulates the siting and construction
of electric generation facilities in Vermont. Section 248 prohibits site preparation or
construction of an electric generation facility in Vermont prior to issuance of a certificate
of public good (“CPG”) by the Commission. 27 Review of unauthorized site clearing
activities, such as those which have now occurred at the Apple Hill site, and the ability to
enjoin such activities, is logically and reasonably related to (and a necessary part of) the
Commission’s jurisdiction. 28
The courts have recognized that injunctions may appropriately be issued in
response to zoning ordinance violations without a showing of irreparable harm or the
unavailability of an adequate remedy at law. 29 As a practical matter, Section 248
functions as the equivalent of a zoning ordinance for energy generation facility citing in
Vermont. This is because electric generation facilities, such as those proposed by the
Developer at the Apple Hill site, are exempt from municipal zoning ordinances. 30
Injunction cases which derive from municipal zoning ordinance violations
rationally apply to Section 248 site clearing and construction violations (i.e., state energy
“zoning” law violations). Therefore, the Commission is within its rights to issue a
The Developer admitted, at the June 26, 2020 TRO hearing, that the trees on the Apple Hill site would
need to be cleared before the Developer’s proposed solar projects could be built. See, Tr. 6/26/20 at 89-90
(Melone).
25
30 V.S.A. § 209(a).
26
Id.
27
30 V.S.A. § 248(a)(2).
28
30 V.S.A. §§ 209(a) and 248(a)(2).
29
Town of Sherburne v. Carpenter, 155 Vt. 126, 129 (1990).
30
24 V.S.A. § 4413(b).
24
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permanent injunction prohibiting further site clearing at the Apple Hill site even without
a showing of irreparable harm (irreparable harm has been shown) or the unavailability of
an adequate remedy at law (also shown).
B. Here, the violation and the actions of the Developer are substantial,
deliberate, and persistent, making an injunction appropriate. Indeed,
necessary.
Zoning cases where the courts have addressed violations which are substantial,
deliberate, or persistent, also provide appropriate guidance. This is because, as
previously noted, Section 248 is the functional equivalent of a zoning ordinance which
regulates energy generation facilities in Vermont and the Commission’s singular role in
implementing and enforcing that statute’s requirements.
In City of St. Albans, property owners converted a former conforming nursery
school into a sixth residential unit without the necessary permit, in violation of the town’s
zoning ordinance. 31 The property owners argued, in reliance on the proposition in
Carpenter that some violations are so insubstantial, that removal of the unit through a
mandatory injunction would be “unjust and inequitable.” 32 On appeal, the Court ruled
that failure to obtain a permit and site-plan approval does not fall under the scope of an
insubstantial violation.33 Additionally, the Court found that the property owners,
following notice from the city, persisted in their violation. 34 Accordingly, the Court
dismissed the property owner’s claim that they did not engage in conscious
wrongdoing. 35

City of St. Albans v. Hayford, 183 Vt. 596 (2008).
Id. at 598-99.
33
Id. at 599.
34
Id.
35
Id.
31
32
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Here, the Developer has failed to obtain a CPG, the Section 248 equivalent of a
zoning permit. In addition, the Commission has determined that the Developer
consciously ignored a prior decision of the Commission.
The Commission issued an order on May 7, 2020, explicitly denying the
petitioner’s request to amend a pending application for a certificate of
public good. Although the petitioner seeks reconsideration of that order,
that order remains binding on the petitioner unless and until the
Commission grants his request for reconsideration. Yet, the petitioner has
gone ahead with making the very same permanent changes to the
landscape that we told him he could not make when we denied his
amendment request. 36
To make matters worse, the Developer then continued site clearing activities for
several hours on June 27, 2020, despite being told by the Commission to cease clearing at
the conclusion of the June 26, 2020 TRO hearing and despite issuance of the TRO on
June 26 by the Commission. 37 Such an act can only be viewed as conscious and
deliberate. It strains credulity to also suggest, as the Developer has here, that its
conscious destruction of very rare (and rare) species (and mature trees), no matter the
number, can be considered insubstantial under those circumstances.
In In re Wood, the landowner constructed a retaining wall which did not meet
design specifications or comply with a permit issued by the town. 38 The environmental
court found that the fine levied upon the landowner by the town was warranted due to the
landowner’s “persistent avoidance of his obligations to abide by [the permit] and the
applicable Regulations,” causing the town to incur considerable expense to enforce its
regulations. 39 On appeal, the Court upheld the fine and the injunctive relief granted by

Case No. 20-1611-INV, Order of 6/26/20 at 5-6.
Tr. 12/4/20 at 48-51 (Kobelia).
38
In re Wood NOV & Permit Applications, 194 Vt. 190 (2013).
39
Id. at 210.
36
37
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In its (2013) decision, the Court noted the “lengthy history” of the

dispute between the landowner and the town (dating back to a 1999 permit), quoting from
the decision on appeal:
[The parties] have engaged in multiple litigations, in multiple courts, over
multiple years, all with common themes: whether various plans for
development of two adjoining parcels of land along Vermont Route 14
should be approved, whether the development that has occurred is in
accordance with either a prior zoning permit or the applicable zoning
regulations, and whether Marc Wood's development of those parcels
should be regarded as violating those zoning regulations. 41
The Court made extensive references to the prior proceedings between the
landowner and the town, and noted that, in 2006, the landowner began building the
retaining wall which was at the center of the litigation “even though he did not have a
new or amended permit” for the activity. 42
The parallels between the actions of the landowner in Wood and the Developer in
this matter are notable. Here, the Developer’s failure to abide by the Section 248
prohibition on site clearing without a CPG was followed by a persistent and repeated
failure to abide by multiple directives issued by the Commission in the very proceedings
(this investigation) which the Developer’s unlawful activities spawned.
The Developer’s project proposals date back many years and invovle many
iterations. As previously noted, the Developer last attempted to amend its proposal as
recently as March 2020. That proposed amendment was rejected by the Commission.
The Developer then ignored the Commission’s ruling and proceeded to make the very
same permanent changes to the landscape that the Commission told him he could not
make. Astoundingly, the Developer continued its clearing activities even after the
40

Id.
Id. at 193.
42
Id. at 196.
41
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At the status conference held on August

31, 2020 (in advance of an injunction hearing scheduled for September 8), the Developer
requested an opportunity to conduct discovery on the Agency. 44 The Developer’s request
was granted and the hearing was adjourned, but the Developer then elected not to pursue
discovery, filing an appeal instead. 45
The September 8 hearing was eventually rescheduled to December 4, 2020 after
the Developer’s appeal was denied. The parties were then directed by the Commission
(in an order dated November 13) to make filings on November 25, in advance of the
hearing. 46 The Developer ignored that deadline and instead made extensive filings
December 3, 2020, on the very eve of the hearing. 47 The Developer then followed those
fillings with additional filings made on December 4, 2020 - the day of the hearing.
At the conclusion of the December 4 hearing, the Developer represented it would
file (within days - so that briefing could occur in accordance with the schedule
established by the Commission) individual (aster) plant counts for two mapped polygons
which were discussed at the hearing but lacked plant counts. 48 The Commission issued a
procedural order on December 8, 2020, reminding the Developer of the need to timely
file the plant counts. 49 The Developer did not file the plant counts.

Tr. 12/4/20 at 48-52 (Kobelia).
See, Tr. 8/31/20 at 18-19.
45
See, Tr. 12/4/20 at 220-222.
46
See, Case No. 20-1611-INV, Order of 11/13/20 at 3.
47
See, Case No. 20-1611-INV, ePUC. Such late filings by the Developer (which leave the Agency little
time to adequately prepare for hearings), as well as after the fact attempts to supplement the record, are part
of a persistent pattern of disregard, not only of the Commission’s orders, but of the parties’ expectations of,
and rights to, an orderly proceeding. For example, after being provided with the opportunity to serve
discovery in this matter, the Developer chose to forego doing so for months, only to then attempt to serve
the Agency with 70 separate discovery requests after 6:00 PM on the night before Thanksgiving, and
demanded responses three days later (http://epuc.vermont.gov/?q=downloadfile/440897/150086).
48
See, Tr. 12/4/20 at 210.
49
See, Case No. 20-1611-INV, Order of 12/8/20 at 1-2.
43
44
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Instead, on January 25, 2021 (four days before the amended filing deadline for
briefs), the Developer filed supplemental testimony and three additional documents
including a map which contained not just the plant counts, but additional information
unrelated to the plant counts and beyond what the Developer was directed by the
Commission to file. The filing disregarded the Commission’s prior determination that
the record in this matter was closed and did not comply with the Commission’s
December 8 post-hearing order. Then, on that same day (52 days after the evidentiary
record in this matter was closed to new evidence), the Developer filed a motion
attempting to supplement the record with six additional documents for which no
foundation existed – again, ignoring the Commission’s prior directives. 50
The Developer has persistently and willfully refused to abide by the
Commission’s requirements in these proceedings. The Developer has abused the process
and demonstrated disregard for other parties’ rights to an orderly proceeding. The
Developer’s actions have imposed unnecessary and inappropriate burdens on the parties
and their counsel in dealing with and responding to the Developer’s unauthorized,
unacceptable, and persistent conduct.
The Developer’s statutory violations, and its subsequent actions in disregard of
the Commission’s authority and the rights of the other parties in these proceedings, are
substantial, deliberate, and persistent, and provide further justification for issuance of a
permanent injunction.
C. Public policy weighs in favor of injunctive relief to protect the integrity
of the Section 248 process, prevent abuse by others and not penalize
energy developers who comply with Vermont’s regulatory requirements.
The Agency objects to this filing and asks that the Commission reject the motion and the accompanying
documents. The Agency intends to file a separate response formally objecting to the motion when time
permits.
50
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A governmental entity, in seeking to enjoin a threatened or existing violation of
zoning regulations, need not show damage accruing to it by reason of the violation. In
acting to enforce such regulations it acts on behalf of the interest of all property owners to
enforce their right to acquire conformity with the regulation as the quid pro quo for their
own submission to the restrictions imposed upon their property. 51
The Agency, at the June 26, 2020 TRO hearing, indicated that the Developer’s
actions, up to that point, undermined the integrity of the Section 248 permitting process.
Acknowledging this fact, and in support of its decision to issue the TRO, the Commission
stated that the Developer’s actions:
create[d] a significant risk that undue adverse effects to the environment
will occur before the Commission has had a chance to review the proposed
project. This does not comply with the applicable statutes or serve the
public interest. 52
Since that time, the Developer has essentially doubled down on its recalcitrant
and reckless behavior. Clearing continued even after the TRO was issued. Orders and
scheduling dates have been ignored. Irreparable environmental harm has occurred.
The Section 248(a)(2) prohibition on site clearing and construction without first
obtaining a CPG is clear. Strict adherence to, and enforcement of, the prohibition is
necessary to preserve the integrity of the Section 248 statutory requirements, the
Commission’s rules implementing those requirements, and the Commission’s oversight
of them. It is also necessary to protect the integrity of the Legislature’s directive that the
Agency, acting on behalf of the people of Vermont, be able to provide evidence and
make recommendations to the Commission concerning an energy facility proposal’s
3 Rathkopf, The Law of Zoning & Planning § 45.01, pp. 45–6 through 45–7. Johnson v. Murzyn, 1
Conn.App. 176, 180. (1984).
52
See, Case No. 20-1611-INV, Order of 6/26/20 at 6.
51
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potential to impact the natural environment of Vermont. When activities, such as the
Developer’s occur before potential impacts are fully assessed, the Agency’s cannot
perform this role. It is eviscerated, and the Legislature’s directive rendered superfluous.
Finally, allowing such abuse would penalize all energy developers who comply with
Vermont’s regulatory requirements. Law abiding developers deserve a fair and level
playing field in Vermont’s critically important and competitive energy arena.

Conclusion
For the reasons set forth above, the Agency respectfully requests that the
Commission issue a permanent injunction prohibiting all clearing at the Apple Hill site.

Dated January 29, 2021, at Waterbury, Vermont.
Respectfully submitted,
State of Vermont
Agency of Natural Resources

By:

_________________________
Donald J. Einhorn, Esq.
Senior Environmental Litigation Attorney
Office of General Counsel
Vermont Agency of Natural Resources
1 National Life Drive, Davis 2
Montpelier, VT 05602-3901
802-249-1720
Donald.Einhorn@vermont.gov
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